
  

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Executive Board 

 
Date: Tuesday 17 August 2021 
 
Time:  2:00pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room, Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Please see the information at the bottom of this agenda front sheet about the 
measures for ensuring Covid-safety 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business: 
 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Governance Officer: Adrian Mann Direct Dial: 0115 8764468 
 
 

Agenda 
 

 Pages 

1  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2  Declarations of Interests  
 

 

3  Minutes  
Minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2021, for confirmation 
 

5 - 16 

4  Draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Energy, Environment and Waste 
Services 
 

17 - 68 

5  Variation to Admission Arrangements for Nottingham City 
Community Schools for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 School Years  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and Schools 
 

69 - 76 

6  Surrender of an Existing Lease and Grant of a New Lease for Land 
at Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, Nottingham  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and 
Communications 
 
 

77 - 82 

Public Document Pack



7  Grant of a Lease Renewal and New Letting for 3, 5, 5a and 7 Castle 
Road, Nottingham  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and 
Communications 
 

83 - 88 

8  Grant of a Lease Renewal for 15/16 Finepoint, Walter Nash Road, 
Kidderminster  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and 
Communications 
 

89 - 92 

9  Exclusion of the Public  
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the remaining items in accordance with Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, under Schedule 12A, Part 1, Paragraph 3, on the 
basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining an exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information 
 

 

10  Surrender of an Existing Lease and Grant of a New Lease for Land 
at Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, Nottingham - Exempt 
Appendices  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and 
Communications 
 

93 - 98 

11  Grant of a Lease Renewal and New Letting for 3, 5, 5a and 7 Castle 
Road, Nottingham - Exempt Appendices  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and 
Communications 
 

99 - 106 

12  Grant of a Lease Renewal for 15/16 Finepoint, Walter Nash Road, 
Kidderminster - Exempt Appendices  
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and 
Communications 
 

107 - 112 

All items listed under ‘Exclusion of the Public’ will be heard in private. These items 
have been included under this section of the agenda because no representations 
against hearing them in private were received. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Councillors, co-optees, colleagues and other participants must declare all 
disclosable pecuniary and other interests relating to any items of business to be 
discussed at the meeting. If you need any advice on declaring an interest in an item 
on the agenda, please contact the Governance Officer shown above before the day 
of the meeting, if possible. 
 
In order to hold this meeting in as Covid-safe a way as possible, all attendees are: 

 asked to maintain a sensible level of social distancing from others as far as 
practically possible when moving around the building and when entering and 
leaving the meeting room. As far as possible, please remain seated and maintain 
distancing between seats throughout the meeting; 

 strongly encouraged to wear a face covering when entering and leaving the 
meeting room and throughout the meeting, unless you need to remove it while 
speaking to enable others to hear you. This does not apply to anyone exempt 
from wearing a face covering; 

 asked to make use of the hand sanitiser available and, when moving about the 
building, follow signs about traffic flows, lift capacities, etc. 

 
Citizens attending the meeting should arrive at least 15 minutes before it starts, to 
be issued with visitor badges. Citizens are advised that this meeting may be 
recorded by members of the public. Any recording or reporting on this meeting 
should take place in accordance with the Council’s policy on recording and 
reporting on public meetings, which is available at: 
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/council-
meetings-decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings. Any person intending 
to record the meeting is requested to notify the Governance Officer shown above in 
advance. 

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/council-meetings-decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/council-meetings-decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings


This page is intentionally left blank



Nottingham City Council  
 

Executive Board 
 
Minutes of the meeting held at The Ballroom - The Council House, Old Market 
Square, Nottingham, NG1 2DT on 20 July 2021 from 2.00 pm - 2.53 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor David Mellen (Chair) 
Councillor Sally Longford (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Eunice Campbell-Clark 
Councillor Rosemary Healy 
Councillor Adele Williams 
Councillor Sam Webster 
Councillor Linda Woodings 
 

Councillor Cheryl Barnard 
Councillor Neghat Khan 
Councillor Rebecca Langton 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Councillor Kevin Clarke  
Councillor Andrew Rule  
Mel Barrett - Chief Executive 
Wayne Bexton - Interim Corporate Director for Growth and City 

Development 
Theresa Channell - Head of Strategic Finance 
Lucy Hubber - Director of Public Health 
Mary Lester - Service Improvement Manager 
Sir Tony Redmond  
Malcolm Townroe - Director of Legal and Governance 
Kate Morris - Governance Officer 
 
 
Call-in 
Unless stated otherwise, all decisions are subject to call-in. The last date for call-in is 
30 July 2021. Decisions cannot be implemented until the working day after this date. 
 
21  Apologies for Absence 

 
Councillor Cheryl Barnard   - Council Business 
Councillor Neghat Khan       - Leave 
Councillor Rebecca Langton   - Unwell  
 
Clive Heaphy - Interim Corporate Director Finance and Resources  
 
22  Declarations of Interests 

 
None. 
 
23  Minutes 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2021 were confirmed as a true record 
and were signed by the Chair.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

24  Treasury Management 2020/21 Annual Report 
 

This item does not contain any decisions that are subject to the call in. 
 
The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for and Resources and 
Finance presenting the Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21 that details 
the 2020/21 performance in respect of management of the Council’s external and 
internal debt and investments. The following points were highlighted:  
 

(a) The Council has reduced external debt by almost £142million. This is a 
significant reduction in external debt which has meant a shift to more internal 
borrowing; 
 

(b) The report sets out where a number of recently introduced strategies have 
helped to reduce the Council’s debt, including the Voluntary Debt Cap, and 
capital strategies. The report focuses on 20/21 and so the impact of the new 
policies on these reported figures will be limited;  
 

(c) Highlighted risks include an increase in interest rates as a result of higher than 
expected inflation driven in part by the Covid 19 pandemic. Interest rates on 
public borrowing have historically been low, however an increase to these will 
result in a cost implication for the Council;  
 

(d) Regular meetings take place to monitor HRA borrowing. The notional 
borrowing cap has been retained. Any scheme must be affordable, sustainable 
and in proportion to the resources available in compliance with the CIPFA 
code; 
 

(e) 2020 was an unprecedented year both for the country as a whole and for 
Nottingham City Council the Portfolio Holder offered his thanks to finance 
colleagues for their support and hard work through difficult circumstances.  
 

Resolved to note the performance information in relation to Treasury 
Management for 2020/21  
 
Reasons for the decision 
This is an annual, statutory report to the Executive Board required under CIPFA 
Code of Practice. 
 
Other options considered 
Not receiving this report was rejected, as it would put Nottingham City Council in 
breach of the CIPFA Code of Practice.  
 
25  Pre-Audit Corporate Financial Outturn 2020/21 

 
The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources 
setting out the Council’s pre-audit revenue and capital outturn for its General Fund 
and Housing Revenue Account for 2020/21. The budget was originally approved by 
Full Council in March 2020 prior to the first lockdown as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic and then a further report setting an interim budget in response to a number 
of events was approved at the Full Council meeting in October 2020. The following 
points were highlighted during discussion:  
 

Page 6



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

(a) Following the interim budget, and further savings of £12million he financial 
position of the council has improved. There is still a funding gap, but this has 
been reduced significantly from the £71million identified in the middle of 2020 
as a result of additional funding from government for Covid costs, and the 
capitalisation programme, a non-essential spending freeze and a programme 
of voluntary redundancy;  
 

(b) The Council made use of its reserves to help alleviate the pressure on the 
budget as a result of Covid-19. Reserve levels have been recovered 
somewhat but are not back to their pre Covid levels;  
 

(c) The working balance of the Housing Revenue Account increased during the 
pandemic. Right to buy slowed and so there was an increase in rental income. 
Concerns remain around universal credit impacting on tenancy sustainment. 
Levels of arears are being closely monitored and residents are receiving 
advice on benefits that are entitled to.  
 

Resolved to  
 
(1) To note: 

a) The pre-audit revenue outturn positive variance of £38.7million for 
2020/21 as set out in Table 4 and Appendix A; 

b) The portfolio variances +/- £50,000 as set out in Appendix B; 
c) The financial impact of Covid-19 as set out in Table 5; 
d) The discretionary rate relief granted in 2020/21 detailed in paragraph 

5.8; 
e) The additions to the Capital programme, including planned and 

proposed as set out in paragraph 6.2 and Table 12; 
f) The refreshed Capital Programme, including planned and proposed as 

set out in paragraph 6.4 and 6.5 (Tables 13 to 14); and 
g) The HRA outturn for 2020/21 as set out in Section 4. 

 
(2) To approve: 

a) The movements of resources set out in paragraph 3.19 and Appendix D; 
b) The net movement on earmarked reserves, as set out in paragraphs 

3.10-3.12 and Appendix E; 
c) Capitalisation of £20million 2020/21 costs; and 
d) Write-offs in excess of £10,000, totalling £0.808million where all options 

for recovery have been exhausted, as set out in paragraph 5.7. 
 
Reasons for decisions 
The movement in reserves and virements of budgets are required by corporate 
financial procedures. The report is part of the formal monitoring process against the 
2020/21 budget.  
 
Other options considered 
Other options were considered throughout the process however the proposed report 
represents the best options.  
 
26  Sustainable Warmth Competition 

 
The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Energy, Environment and 
Waste Services seeking permission to bid to the Department of Business Energy and 

Page 7



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to support regional delivery of the Sustainable Warm 
Competition in the Midlands. The Midlands Energy Hub has a strong track record of 
supporting similar schemes and will help Local Authorities to access funding to help 
to address households in fuel poverty and promote decarbonisation.  
 
She highlighted that there was no liability to the Council, and that this was a whole 
funded scheme. Any money not allocated through the competition programme would 
be returned to BEIS. 
 
Resolved to  
 

(1) approve the submission of a bid to the Sustainable Warmth Competition 
for a grant allocation of up to £140million from the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to support regional 
delivery through the Midlands Energy Hub;  
 

(2) delegate authority to the Director of Carbon Reduction, Energy and 
Sustainability to accept the funding, subject to a business case being 
submitted and approved, and the funding conditions being approved, by 
the Director of Legal and Governance and the Corporate Director of 
Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer); and  
 

(3) note that any spend of the funding received will require further approvals 
prior to allocation. 

 
Reasons for decision 
The project targets citizen on the lowest incomes and in the worst performing 
households aiming to increase thermal comfort. This directly supports the Council’s 
Fuel Poverty Strategy 2018-25.  
 
The project will also allow retrofit projects supporting the Carbon Neutral by 2028 
aspiration and National carbon reduction targets.   
 
In addition to the important green factors and the benefit to citizens wellbeing the 
project will stimulate the supply chain and help facilitate a green economic recovery 
from Covid-19. These funds will allow a range of works, otherwise not affordable for 
Local Authorities to take place creating local jobs.  
 
Other options considered 
One option considered was looking at alternative funding. This option was rejected, 
as alternative funding streams with such favourable terms have not been identified.  
 
The other alternative considered was to do nothing. This was rejected, as it would be 
a missed opportunity to secure benefits for citizens and reduce carbon emissions.  
 
27  Victoria Embankment Memorial Gardens National Lottery Heritage Fund 

Restoration Project 
 

The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Highways, Transport and 
Cleansing Services seeking approval to submit a bid to the National Lottery Heritage 
Fund, and proposals to seek additional funding from alternative sources, to fully grant 
fund a restoration project for the Victoria Embankment Memorial Gardens.  
 

Page 8



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

The Portfolio Holder highlighted that the project will be 100% grant funded, and 
should additional grant bids not be successful the project will be scaled down to 
ensure there will be no financial implication for the Council.    
 
Board members expressed thanks to the officers for their hard work in identifying 
funding streams to make the project possible.  
 
Resolved to:  

(1)  To approve the project as detailed in the Victoria Embankment 
Memorial Gardens NLHF Restoration Project business plan subject to: 

i) Capital Board endorsement and agreement to treat the project as 
an in-year addition to the capital programme; 

ii) confirmation that all sources of funding have been secured 
before any costs are incurred; 

iii) the Council’s revenue expenditure being identified within 
existing budgets; 

 
(2) To approve the funding for the new permanent Victoria Embankment 

Team Leader post and fixed-term project work placements. The 
establishment of the posts is being approved as a non-executive 
decision by the Corporate Director of Resident Services under 
Delegation 16; 

 
(3)  To approve the establishment of a sinking fund for the purpose of 

maintaining the site in good condition, funded from revenue surpluses 
in conjunction with the NLHF conditions; and 

 
(4) To delegate the authority to the Corporate Director of Resident 

Services, in consultation with the Corporate Director of Finance and 
Resources and the relevant Portfolio Holder for Highways, Transport 
and Cleansing Services, to carry out procurement processes and enter 
into contracts relating to the project. 

 
Reasons for decision  
The Memorial gardens are a well-used public space and although the infrastructure 
of the gardens has remained intact since they were established 100 years ago many 
features require report and restoration. The project will also improve the more 
modern facilities like toilets and café provision on site creating greater footfall and 
more revenue.  
 
The creation of the post will help to upskill work placements and volunteers in land-
based skills, giving them better opportunity for employment in street-scene and 
ground maintenance positons.  
 
Other options considered 
Reducing the scale of the project was considered as an alternative option. This was 
rejected, as sufficient heritage restoration work is required to access the grant 
funding. Scaling back would leave the project not reaching the required level to 
qualify for the base funding.  
 
Not carrying out the work was another alternative option considered. This was 
rejected, as there is no other viable way to progress the required restoration work to 
the gardens and its features. Leaving the gardens in their current state of disrepair 

Page 9



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

would lead to further deterioration and potential health and safety issues in the future. 
It would also result in lost revenue potential from the café and leisure facilities for 
citizens.  
 
28  Back2Work Project 

 
The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Skills, Growth and 
Economic Development, presented by the Leader in her absence, detailing the 
Back2Work project aimed at supporting unemployed residents’ progress into 
employment following the Covid-19 pandemic. This decision seeks approval for the 
Council to act as an Accountable Body for the D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership 
accepting funds from the European Social to set up and run the project.  
 
Resolved to 
 

(1) approve the Council to act as the Accountable Body for D2N2 and accept 
European Social Fund (ESF) monies for the D2N2 Back2Work Project, to 
run between September 2021 and December 2023; 
 

(2) authorise the allocation of budget for the Council project posts;   
 

(3) delegate authority to the Corporate Director for Growth and City 
Development to enter into a funding agreement with the Department for 
Work and Pensions and collaboration agreements with delivery partners, 
to allocate funding to delivery partners, and to authorise Council project 
roles; and 
 

(4) Create, and recruit to, one ESF Project Administrator post within the 
Council's Economic Development team to support the management of 
the project. The funding for the post is being approved as an executive 
decision, and the establishment of the post is being approved as a non-
executive decision by the Corporate Director for Growth and City 
Development under Delegation 16. 

    
Reasons for decision  
This project will help to reduce unemployment across the D2N2 area, including 
Nottingham City where unemployment rates are (7.8%). The project will improve 
access to vocational skills and help to support employment sectors hardest hit by the 
Covid-19 pandemic to recover. 
 
The funding will ensure that the Nottingham Jobs Hub can continue to run beyond 
March 2023 when its current funding runs out.  
 
There are a number of Council targets that this funding will help to contribute to 
including working with business to develop 500 apprentices, supporting 400 young 
people into employment through the KickStart programmes and supporting 1,000 
residents including disadvantaged groups into employment, education and training.  
 
Other options considered 
The only other option considered was to no bid for the available funding. This option 
was rejected as it would limit the Council’s ability to support the most disadvantaged 
unemployed residents into employment, and employers across the region would not 
benefit from the support activities to help them recover from the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Page 10



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

 
It would also represent a lost opportunity to increase skills and productivity across 
key sectors.  
 
29  Transformation and Improvement Update 

 
The Board considered the report of the Leader of the Council, outlining the need to 
approve a budget of up to £15million to facilitate the rapid journey of improvement set 
out in the Recovery and Improvement Plan adopted at Full Council on 25 January 
2021. Setting aside this budget will ensure that the programme of change can be 
managed efficiently and in a timely manner, and will ensure that Officers and 
Members can act at pace should it be required. All projects will need to present full 
business cases before funds are made available to them. During discussion, the 
following points were raised by members of the Board:  
 

(a) Monitoring this use of this fund through the newly established Transformation 
Executive Member Board will ensure that the best value for money is achieved 
through robust business cases for individual projects and effective monitoring 
throughout the projects duration;  
 

(b) Embedding citizen focused transformed services is key to ensuing better value 
for money moving forward;  
 

(c) At the start of the pandemic, there was a significant shift to digital and online 
services with many services being delivered successfully through online 
interactions. Where is has been successful this will continue as it offers better 
flexibly for customers. 
 

Resolved to: 
 

(1) note the proposed governance of the transformation programme 
including the proposed use of business cases to establish both 
investment needs and proposed savings over the medium term;  
 

(2) approve a budget for Transformation and Improvement of up to 
£15million; and  
 

(3) To delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council, to allocate the budget to support transformational 
and improvement activity. 
 

Reasons for decision  
The funds will provide necessary resource to support the investment in services and 
transformation. It will not be used to support business as usual activity but for 
targeted investment.  
 
This work will support projects aligned with the Recovery and Improvement Plan and 
the Transformation Plan by creating capacity and transferable skills and knowledge 
across the Council.  
 
Other options considered 
The alternative option considered is to do nothing. This option was rejected, as it 
would risk the delivery of the Recovery and Improvement plan.  

Page 11



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

 
30  Disposal of Waterway House, Waterway Street, Nottingham, NG2 3DY 

 
The Board considered the report of the portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration 
and Communications seeking to declare the freehold interest of Waterway House 
surplus to requirements of the Trading Account and make the premises available to 
sell on the open market. The Portfolio Holder highlighted that no alternative 
operational use for the building had been found and that sale on the open market 
would achieve best value for money from the asset.  
 
Resolved to: 

(1) declare Waterway House, Waterway Street, Nottingham, NG2 3DY 
surplus to the requirements of the Trading Account and make the 
freehold available to the Corporate Director of Growth and City 
Development for sale; and 
 

(2) delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Growth and City 
Development, in conjunction with the Director of Economic Development 
and Property, to agree the method and terms of sale for the freehold of 
the premises, including negotiating with any under-bidder if any 
purchase should not proceed. 
 

Reasons for decision 
After becoming vacant in 2019 no further operational use has been found for the 
building. Releasing the property for sale will help to support the Local Plan be 
delivering inner city regeneration.  
 
Revenue savings will be made in regard to void business rates and the capital receipt 
will be available to support the financial position of the Council. Open market sale will 
ensure that nest market value is achieved. 
 
Offer for sale by informal tender will allow the Council to negotiate with prospective 
purchases ensuring the  best redevelopment option for the site. 
 
Other options considered 
Retaining the property in order to let it was considered as an alternative. This was 
rejected, as significant capital investment is required to secure any future income 
through rent. 
 
Internal regeneration was also considered, however this was also rejected as there is 
no internal interest for regeneration.  
 
31  Loan to Nottingham City Homes Registered Provider for the Acquisition 

of Laura Chambers Lodge, Clifton 
 

The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Planning and 
Heritage proposing the sale of Laura Chambers Lodge to Nottingham City Homes 
Registered Provider at market value price for use as temporary accommodation for 
families. 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

Resolved to: 
 

(1) To delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Finance and 
Resources to approve a loan to Nottingham City Homes Registered 
Provider, subject to due diligence; 
 

(2) To sell the Laura Chambers Lodge to Nottingham City Homes Registered 
Provider at market value, at the price detailed in the Exempt Appendix of 
the report published with the agenda; and   
 

(3) To contribute £40,000 of Section 106 Affordable Housing Contribution to 
NCH RP to acquire the surrounding land at LCL, upon which to develop 
additional affordable housing units in the future. 
 

Reasons for decision  
The Council has a duty to provide suitable accommodation for families classified as 
homeless and this will ensure the Council can continue to do so, whilst families 
maintain school placements, local family links and support networks.  
 
Provision of this accommodation will result in a saving for the council in terms of 
reduced Bed and Breakfast costs or nightly paid accommodation, both of which are 
costly.  
 
There is an expectation that demand for temporary accommodation for families will 
rise in the coming year following the removal of the temporary ban on evictions and 
this accommodation will help to manage that demand. 
 
Other options considered 
A number of other options were considered for this site. The first was to reutilise the 
property as a care home. This was rejected as there is not sufficient demand for this 
service and goes against the Better Lives Better Outcomes strategy to maximise the 
ability of older people to remain independent for longer.  
 
The next option considered was to not refurbish the property for temporary 
accommodation. This was rejected, as there is high demand for accommodation and 
in areas other than the city centre. 
 
Another option considered was to sell the property on the open market. This was 
rejected, as it would not achieve as high a capital receipt through an alternative 
method of disposal and the need for temporary accommodation in the city. 
Alternative disposal would not help to alleviate the pressure on Council finances due 
to unsuitable temporary accommodation costs. 
 
The last option considered was sale to an alternative registered provider. This was 
rejected as no alternative registered provider has been identified that would be able 
to provide the much needed temporary accommodation in a time scale that fits with 
demand.  
 
32  Alignment of the Health and Wellbeing Board with the Integrated Care 

Partnership and Integrated Care System 
 

The Chair of the Board agreed that this item, although not on the original agenda, 
could be considered as a matter of urgency in accordance with Section 100B(4)(b) of 

Page 13



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

the Local Government Act 1972, because it is urgent that this report is received by 
the July meeting of the Executive Board as the Council cannot delay signing the 
proposed ICS Partnership Agreement for a further month. To do so would undermine 
the spirit of the Partnership Agreement and potentially prejudice of the Council’s 
position within the ICS. 
 
The Board considered the report of the Portfolio Holder for Adults and Health 
outlining proposals for how the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), the Integrated 
Care Partnership (ICP) and the Integrated Care System (ICS) will align following the 
recent publication of the recent Health and Social Care White Paper establishing. 
The following points were highlighted in discussion: 
 

(a) There are significant gaps in health life expectancy between men and women 
in the city and across the wards. The suggested changes will help to realign 
resources to tackle these health inequalities and improve services across the 
city for citizens;  
 

(b) The proposed advisory group will really help to ensure that citizens 
experiences are channelled into the system helping to shape services and to 
make an impact on the persistent inequalities;  
 

(c) This realignment is a good opportunity to ensure closer partnership working at 
a city level and greater impact of money spent on health services across the 
city.  
 

Resolved to: 
 

(1) To agree the proposed governance structure as the basis on which to 
underpin the development of new ways of working on a ‘place’ approach 
with the ICS. Specifically that: 

 The ICP Board reports in to the HWB; and 

 The membership of the HWB is reviewed by its Chair and the 
Director of Public Health to ensure appropriate representation and 
a partnership ethos. 

 
(2) For the Council to sign the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated 

Care System Partnership Agreement, with the additional clauses 
highlighted in Appendix 2 added to strengthen the focus on health 
inequalities. 

 
Reasons for decision  
The proposed model will allow the Health and Wellbeing Board greater oversight of 
health and care activity in the City allowing the development of a Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy to prioritise a needs assessment based on population health data. 
This will ensure maximum effect for each pound spent on health and increase 
benefits for citizens across the city. It will also address the inequalities in healthy life 
expectancy that have been brought more starkly into focus through the Covid-19 
pandemic. 
 
Other options considered 
A number of different models were considered at the Local Government Association 
facilitated workshops. These included retaining the current arrangements and full 

Page 14



Executive Board – 20.07.21 

delegation to place based commissioning. Neither of these options were considered 
appropriate and were discounted. 
 
33  Exclusion of the Public 

 
The Board decided to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of 
this/ the remaining agenda item(s) in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing the information, as defined in Paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Act. 
 
34  Exempt Minutes 

 
The exempt minutes of the meeting were confirmed as a true record of the meeting 
and were signed by the Chair. 
 
35  Disposal of Waterway House, Waterway Street, Nottingham, NG2 3DY - 

Exempt Appendix 
 

The Board considered the exempt appendix to the report on the disposal of 
Waterway House, Waterway Street, Nottingham NG2 3DY and noted its contents. 
 
36  Loan to Nottingham City Homes Registered Provider for the Acquisition 

of Laura Chambers Lodge, Clifton - Exempt Appendices 
 

The Board considered the exempt appendices to the report on the Loan to 
Nottingham City Homes Registered Provider for the Acquisition of Laura Chambers 
Lodge, Clifton and noted its contents. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Board 
August 2021 

 

Subject: Draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 
 

Corporate 
Director(s)/Director(s): 

Clive Heaphy, Interim Corporate Director of Finance and 
Resources 
Ita O’Donovan, Director of Strategy and Policy 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Sally Longford, Portfolio Holder for Energy, 
Environment and Waste Services 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 

Dean Goodburn, Policy and Performance 
dean.goodburn@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
James Rhodes, Head of Analysis and Insight 
james.rhodes@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Shelley Harrod, Research and Engagement and 
Consultation Manager 
James Schrodel, Policy and Performance Manager 
Elaine Fox, Policy and Performance 
 

Subject to call-in:  Yes       No 
 

Key Decision: Yes        No 
Criteria for Key Decision: 
(a)  Expenditure  Income  Savings of £1,000,000 or more taking account 

of the overall impact of the decision 
and/or 
(b) Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in 

the City 
 Yes      No 

 

Type of expenditure:  Revenue   Capital 
 

Total value of the decision: Nil 
 

Wards affected: All 
 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 
 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme: 
Nottingham People 
Living in Nottingham 
Growing Nottingham 
Respect for Nottingham 
Serving Nottingham Better 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4

mailto:dean.goodburn@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:james.rhodes@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
 
As part of the Recovery and Improvement Plan, the Council is required to review its 
policy framework within the light of it new operating context. In response, a refreshed 
draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 (SCP) has been produced, to replace the 
existing Council Plan 2019-23 (Appendix 1). 
 
The revised draft details the vision, high level outcomes and priorities for the Council 
over the next two years. It includes commitments from the existing plan for 2019-23 
that have been reviewed against the funding and resources available to deliver them, 
alongside the Council’s statutory and transformation activity that supports the new 
headline outcomes. 
 
The draft SCP provides a greater focus on the core, statutory services and activities 
the Council needs to provide to support local people, places and partners. 
 
In addition, the Council has undertaken a period of consultation on the proposed 
draft plan, involving Council employees, the public and partners. Consultation on the 
plan is almost complete, with a final engagement session with partners, businesses, 
and the community and voluntary sector to come, but the interim feedback on the 
draft plan is presented here for Executive Board’s consideration (Appendix 2). 
 
The draft plan is still evolving, with feedback from the Improvement and Assurance 
Board and the conclusion of the consultation process to be incorporated into the final 
document ahead of consideration at Full Council on 13 September 2021. 
 

Exempt information: None 

Recommendation(s):  

1 To recommend that the draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 is approved by Full 
Council on 13 September 2021, subject to any further changes that may be made 
at the conclusion of the consultation, or following feedback from the Improvement 
and Assurance Board. 

  

2 To comment on the feedback to date from the consultation exercise with Council 
employees and the public on the contents of the draft Strategic Council Plan 
2021-23, and to make any suggestions for changes to the content of the draft as 
a result. 

      

 
1 Reasons for recommendations  
 
1.1 The existing Council Plan 2019-23 was formally approved at Full Council on 11 

November 2019. 
 
1.2 That plan set out our vision for improving Nottingham whilst keeping citizens at the 

heart of everything the Council does. 
 

Page 18



1.3 The overall vision and ambition for the city are unchanged, but the wider context in 
which the organisation is operating has changed dramatically since 2019, following 
the critical Public Interest Report (PIR) into Robin Hood Energy and the Non-
Statutory Review (NSR) of the Council, significant real terms funding reductions for 
local government, and the ongoing social and economic impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

 
1.4  In light of this, it is appropriate that the Council reviews the existing Council Plan 19-

23 and revise it to take account of the changed operating context, to ensure that we 
are responding appropriately to the new context whilst maintaining our ambitions for 
Nottingham and for local people. 

 
1.5 The draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 sets out a vision and revised set of key 

outcomes and priorities that the Council believes will improve the lives of local 
people and support Nottingham’s recovery from the ongoing Covid-19 Pandemic. 

 
2 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 Following the publication of the PIR in August 2020 and the Council’s Action Plan in 

response, the Council was subject to a rapid review on behalf of the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). That review concluded in 
November 2020. 

 
2.2  As a result of the review, the Council was required to produce a three year Recovery 

and Improvement Plan (R&IP), setting out the actions we will take and the key 
milestones we will meet to restore the financial viability of the Council’s capital 
programme and revenue budget.  

 
2.3 Progress against delivery of the recovery plan is overseen and considered by an 

external Improvement and Assurance Board (IAB), and progress updates from the 
IAB formally submitted to the Secretary of State with their observations. 

 
2.4 As an organisation, the Council is clear that we need to achieve a sustainable, 

balanced budget, in the context of a refreshed policy framework and direction for the 
Council, with transparent, effective and efficient decision-making, and having regard 
to the resources that are available to us to deliver this on behalf of the people of 
Nottingham. 

 
2.5 Good progress has been already made towards achieving this position, but we are 

not complacent; the wider operating context is extremely challenging, and there is 
still more for the Council to do if we are to successfully deliver the scale of 
improvement required within the timescale set out in the recovery plan. 

 
2.6 A key aspect of delivering the improvement needed is developing a refreshed policy 

framework for the Council: ‘the Strategic Council Plan’, which reaffirms the 
organisation’s vision and priorities over the next two years, taking full account of our 
absolute commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion, whilst also ensuring our 
priorities are deliverable within a reduced funding envelope. 

 
 

Page 19



The refreshed Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 
 

2.7  The new Strategic Council Plan (SCP) must deliver a refreshed policy framework 
and set out a clear vision for the city for the next two years which is affordable and 
deliverable within a reduced funding envelope. 

 
2.8 The draft SCP is a strategic, ‘one-council’ document that incorporates the Council’s 

statutory responsibilities and also reflects the key outcomes and priorities of the 
Council’s ruling group. 
 

2.9 It was created following a review of previous political commitments and an extensive 
internal development process that included reviews and feedback from the IAB. 
 

2.10 The draft SCP meets the requirements of the R&IP and IAB by enabling: 
 

 A clear vision for the City and City Council, and details of our strategic priorities 
for the next two years. 

 A robust policy framework to deliver against those priorities within the available 
resources. 

 The establishment of high level outcomes, with a series of strategic priorities and 
detailed, measurable activities underneath to support each outcome, so that 
services can be better held to account for their contribution to the Council’s 
overall strategic goals. 

 More effective performance management at all levels through a ‘golden thread’ 
that runs from the overall strategic aims and objectives at the top of the 
organisation, and the outcomes of the refreshed Council Plan, down to service 
plans and individual colleague appraisal objectives. 

 A strong link to financial performance, corporate risk and our workforce and 
corporate health, alongside more effective internal controls and management 
arrangements. 

 Greater clarity to employees, citizens, businesses and other key stakeholders on 
what our priorities are and where our resources are being directed over the next 
two years. 

 The governance and accountability mechanisms needed to ensure the delivery of 
the plan and to enable citizens and others to hold us to account. 

 
2.11 Alongside the revised Plan, a comprehensive PMF will underpin delivery of the plan, 

and provide the Corporate Leadership Team, Leadership Group, the IAB and public 
with the necessary assurance that performance management is being undertaken by 
the authority in a rigorous and transparent way, with appropriate oversight and 
reporting of the performance of the organisation in place. 

 
2.12 Significant changes have been made to the draft Plan following the conclusion of a 

robust service planning process. As set out at June’s IAB, the in-year service 
planning process was the key vehicle by which commitments in the plan were tested 
for deliverability against known 2021/22 budgets. This work does not take into 
account the currently forecast overspend which is on a significant scale to present 
tangible risks. Nor does it take into account the know reductions of more than 10% in 
the Council’s budgets for 2022/23. 

 

Page 20



2.13 The service planning process identified any existing commitments that were deemed 
not to be resourced and therefore required a review by the accountable Director and 
Portfolio Holder, in order to either remove the commitment or re-scope it to make it 
deliverable within 2021/22 approved resources. 
 

Consultation on the Draft SCP 
 

2.14 The Council has consulted extensively on the draft SCP, with local people, 
employees and key partners, actively seeking their views to inform and improve the 
draft SCP and the priorities and activities that flow from it. 

 
2.15 Consultation has taken place through a mix of online questionnaires and online 

engagement sessions (in light of Covid-19), with the senior leadership of the 
organisation: the Leader, Cllr David Mellen; Deputy Leader, Cllr Sally Longford; and 
Chief Executive, Mel Barrett. 

 
2.16 Engagement sessions have taken place with Council employees and members of the 

public, with a final session for partners scheduled to take place on 9 August. 
 
2.17 An additional feedback session took place with the Leader and young people 

(Nottingham Youth Cabinet) in July. 
 

2.18 Overall, the vision and eleven headline outcomes in the draft Plan were endorsed by 
the majority of respondents amongst both Council employees and members of the 
public. 

 
2.19 Within that, staff and the public particularly focused on ‘Safe’ and ‘Clean’ as key 

areas in the vision statement, and ‘Financial Stability’, ‘Safer Nottingham’, ‘Serving 
People Well’ and ‘Keeping Nottingham Working’ as their main priorities from the 
eleven headline outcomes.  

 
2.20 There is a significant amount of detailed feedback provided by both the online survey 

and engagement sessions, with too much detail to go into here. Officers are 
reviewing the feedback and have some early proposed recommendations for 
Executive Board to consider for ways the draft SCP can be modified to take account 
of some of the feedback received, to ensure we are properly taking account of and 
reflecting the feedback and concerns of local people, employees and partners. 

 
2.21 Proposed recommendations for Executive Board to consider are: 
 

 Staff raised how the draft SCP would be viewed by our local business 
community, with suggestions to make the document more relevant and ‘business 
friendly’ to local employers and businesses. Officers propose to revise some of 
the language in the draft to reflect this. 

 

 Councillors and representatives of the city’s arts and culture sector felt the 
importance of arts and culture was underplayed in a previous version of the draft, 
and officers have already sought to address this by referencing it in the latest 
version of the draft (see Appendix 1), for example: 

 

Page 21



o “A diverse, creative, vibrant and multicultural city.” 
o “It is a young, growing and diverse city, where collaboration and new creative 

voices can be heard.” 
o “Work with our Business Improvement District and Cultural partners to 

promote the City as a positive visitor destination location.” 
o “Work towards an application to become City of Culture in 2029.” 

 

 Local people raised the importance of volunteering and opportunities to get 
involved in activity to support the city and their local communities. Officers are 
proposing to include ‘sign-posting’ information in the document to volunteering 
opportunities both at the Council (Clean Champions) and the Nottingham 
Voluntary and Community Service, within the Clean and Connected Communities 
outcome. 

 
2.22 Officers will present more detailed findings and reflections once the consultation with 

partners has concluded and the feedback from the IAB on the latest draft is received. 
 

3 Other options considered in making recommendations 
 
3.1 To do nothing: maintaining the existing Council Plan 2019-23 was not considered 

appropriate in light of the significantly changed operating context for the Council and 
Nottingham city overall, along with the requirements of the R&IP and MHCLG that the 
Council must deliver. 

 
4 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for money/VAT) 
 
4.1 A key focus of the Council, supported by the main themes of the Recovery and 

Improvement Plan, is the need for a more medium-term financial planning horizon 
and the achievement of a sustainable, balanced budget in the context of a refreshed 
policy framework and direction for the Council. 

 
4.2 The key financial goal is to match our ambition with the resources we have in order 

to deliver, in a transparent, effective and efficient way, an agenda that we can afford 
– without recourse to our reserves and without taking undue risks or making over-
optimistic assumptions. 

 
4.3 Good progress has been made towards achieving this goal, but the wider operating 

and financial context remains extremely challenging. There is still much more for the 
Council to do if it is to successfully deliver the scale of improvement required within 
the timescale set out in the recovery plan. 

 
4.4 Whilst it is a positive step towards the aim of producing a plan that aligns a rolling 

four-year planning cycle with an affordable and sustainable financial envelope, there 
are risks that will need managing given both the 2021/22 in-year forecast overspend 
and the known and reported funding gap for 2022/23 onwards. 

 
4.5 As such, it should not yet be considered to be fully costed or demonstrably 

representing value for money with the resources currently forecast to be available. 
 

Page 22



 Advice provided by Clive Heaphy, Interim Corporate Director of Finance and 
Resources, on 9 August 2021. 

 
5 Legal and Procurement colleague comments (including risk management issues, 

and legal, Crime and Disorder Act and procurement implications) 
 
5.1 The current Strategic Council Plan runs concurrently with the electoral term. In May 

2019, Council approved the adoption of the Nottingham Labour Manifesto 2019 as a 
basis of its policies for the current term of office. The Strategic Council Plan adopted 
in November 2019 reflected this. The draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 will 
replace the Strategic Council Plan 2019-23 for the remainder of the term of office. 

 
5.2 The Council has a variety of statutory duties that it must fulfil by law. It cannot 

lawfully decide not to carry out those duties. Even where the Council is under a 
statutory duty to provide a service, there is often a discretion available to the Council 
about the level of service provision. For other activities, the Council provides 
services in pursuance of a statutory power rather than a duty, and though not bound 
to carry out those activities, decisions about them must be taken in accordance with 
the decision making requirements of administrative law. 

 
5.3 Members have a duty to ensure that the Council acts lawfully. The Council must set 

and maintain a balanced budget and must take steps to deal with any projected 
overspends and identify savings or other measures to bring budget pressures under 
control. 
 
Advice provided by Beth Brown, Head of Legal and Governance, on 9 August 2021. 
 

6 Strategic Assets & Property colleague comments (for decisions relating to all 
property assets and associated infrastructure) 

 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 
7 Social value considerations 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8 Regard to the NHS Constitution 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
9.1 Whilst the draft Plan does propose potential changes to Council policies and 

services, these have not been finalised and any changes to policies and services will 
be assessed for their impact in detail, including on equality, diversity and inclusion in 
the city, as part of the Council’s Budget Setting and Medium-Term Financial 
Planning process due to take place over autumn/winter 2021. 
 
 

Page 23



10 List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 
published documents or confidential or exempt information) 

 
10.1 None. 

 
11 Published documents referred to in this report 
 
11.1 Nottingham City Council Plan 2019-23 

 
11.2 Nottingham City Council Recovery and Improvement Plan 2021-24 

Page 24



1 
 

 

Draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23 

 

Discussion Document 

  

P
age 25



2 
  

P
age 26



3 
 

Foreword 
 
Welcome to the renewed Council Plan for Nottingham City 
Council for 2021-23. This document clearly sets out what we aim 
to deliver for our residents over the next two years. 
 
We have reviewed the Council Plan (2019-23) in light of the new 

context the City Council is operating in, including two critical 

external reports, the impact of the Covid pandemic and significant 

real terms funding reductions from central government. 

The previous Plan set out a vision for improving our great city while 

keeping citizens at the heart of everything we do. 

It was about the future of our city for all who live, work, study, 

invest and visit here, and was rooted in our values of equality, 

fairness, and inclusivity. Our commitment to those values is as 

strong as ever, and our overall ambition for the city and local 

people is unchanged. 

However the context in which we are operating has changed 

dramatically since that plan was formally adopted in 2019, and if 

we are to achieve our aims and live up to our aspirations for 

Nottingham in future, we must rethink what we do and how we do 

it. 

In 2020 a report in the public interest from our external auditor was 

published which resulted in the Ministry of Housing and Local 

Government commissioning a non-statutory review of the council 

that highlighted some issues with decision making, the 

management of risk, particularly in relation to income generation, 

and the scale of our ambitions in light of our financial position. In 

response we have produced a three year Recovery and 

Improvement Plan to address these issues and achieve financial 

stability. One of the key areas set out in the improvement plan was 

to refresh the Council Plan in light of its available resources. 

This document sets out our vision and strategic outcomes for the 

City and City Council for the next two years. 

It sets out “what we will do, how we will do it, and why”, as part of 

a robust policy framework for the organisation to help us deliver 

against those outcomes within our available resources. 

It also details how the organisation will renew itself through an 

improvement and transformation programme, to ensure our 

decision-making, governance and finances are clear, effective and 

sustainable. 

This will ensure that the council services local people rely on can 

continue to be well planned and effectively delivered. 

We are on a rapid journey of improvement. The organisation has 

already made good progress on this journey, but we do not 

underestimate the size and scale of the challenge that is still ahead 

of us. 

P
age 27



4 
 

We are committed to continuing to effectively deliver quality 

statutory services to ensure that vulnerable children are protected, 

and all children have the conditions for the best start in life. 

We will also continue to ensure that our elderly or vulnerable 

adults can have a good quality of life and grow old with dignity.  

We are also committed to ensuring our day-to-day local services 

that help keep the city safe and clean continue to be delivered well, 

and that we work in partnership with the communities we serve to 

build a prosperous city that offers people the opportunity to realise 

their potential. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 28



5 
 

Our Vision 

Vision Statement: Nottingham is Safe, Clean, Ambitious and Proud 

We want Nottingham to be a city where people feel safe to live and 

work, that is an exciting and welcoming place to play, study and 

visit, a city that it is clean and environmentally sustainable, where 

we are ambitious for Nottingham people and businesses, and a city 

that is creative and culturally vibrant, where local people are proud 

of their city, their neighbourhood and their local community. 

Our vision for Nottingham is based on these core principles: 

■ A safer city for people to live, work, study and visit. 

■ A cleaner city that we all take pride in. 

■ A diverse, creative, vibrant and multicultural city. 

■ A city where there is lots to do for people of all ages. 

■ A healthy city, where people look after themselves and make 

healthy choices. 

■ A city which is committed to improving the environment and 

being carbon neutral by 2028. 

■ A city that takes care of its residents. 

■ A place where there is dignity in getting older and care for those 

who need it. 

■ A city where there are opportunities for everyone and we’re 

encouraged to prosper and be ambitious. 

■ A city where people from all walks of life get on well and 

respect each other. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 29



6 
 

Our Ambition for Nottingham 

What we want to achieve 

Based on our vision and aims for Nottingham, we want to work 

with our communities, partners and others to deliver eleven key 

outcomes for Nottingham. 

These high-level outcomes are based on the interventions we think 

will have the most significant impact on the long-term challenges 

the city faces, on the things that you tell us matter most to local 

people, and that we are committed to delivering to 2023 and 

beyond, within the funding and resources available to us. 

Our high level outcomes for Nottingham are: 

■ Clean and Connected Communities. 

■ Keeping Nottingham Working. 

■ Carbon Neutral by 2028. 

■ Safer Nottingham. 

■ Child-Friendly Nottingham. 

■ Healthy and Inclusive. 

■ Keeping Nottingham Moving. 

■ Improve the City Centre. 

■ Better Housing. 

■ Financial Stability. 

■ Serving People Well. 

Underneath each of these sit a number of priority activities and 

interventions to help deliver these outcomes long term. 

 

The activities and interventions are not a full list of everything that 

the City Council does or is responsible for, but are what we believe 

to be the most important contributors to achieving each outcome 

and our overall ambitions for Nottingham. 

How we will do it 

How we do something is as important as what we do. We will: 

■ Focus on delivering good quality services when and where they 

are needed. 

■ Ensure our finances are sustainable over the medium to long 

term, so we can continue to deliver the modern, effective and value 

for money public services that local people expect us to. 

■ Work collaboratively with local communities, partners and 

others, and be clear about what we can and cannot do. 

■ Act locally, listening to local people, and building on the strengths 

of our communities to help them become more resilient and 

support them to do more for themselves. 

■ Champion the City, locally, regionally, nationally and 

internationally. 

■ Work as “one council” to deliver services and support in a joined 

up and efficient way. 

■ Allocate resources against our outcomes to ensure they are used 

where they are needed most and will have the most impact. 

P
age 30



7 
 

■ Focus on early intervention and prevention to improve outcomes, 

including improving the health and wellbeing of local people – as 

prevention is better than cure. 

■ Use evidence to drive our decision making, ensuring the decisions 

we take are well-informed by a diverse range of views, with clear 

accountability for decisions, and made transparently and openly for 

the benefit of the public we serve. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 31



8 
 

 

P
age 32



9 
 

Operating Context 

Your City 

Nottingham is a great place to live, work, study and play. 

It is a young, growing and diverse city, where collaboration and 

new creative voices can be heard. 

People have a strong sense of community, built on our shared 

history, challenge and creative spirit, and, as the collective city 

response to Covid-19 has shown, when the going gets tough, we 

stand together and help one another. 

We are a dynamic and vibrant city, but we face long-term 

challenges to our prosperity and wellbeing, both as a city and as an 

organisation, with significant and increasing demand for the vital 

statutory services we provide, such as adult social care and child 

protection. 

Covid-19 has exacerbated long-standing inequalities in income, 

health and opportunity in Nottingham, with the worst impacts 

being felt by our most deprived and diverse communities. 

This is not unique to Nottingham, and a similar picture can be seen 

across the UK. In light of Covid-19 we must redouble our efforts to 

tackle inequality in Nottingham, and support our city and people as 

we recover from the pandemic. 

We will work with local people and our partners to deliver the 

outcomes in this plan that will make Nottingham a world-class city 

that is Safe, Clean, Ambitious and Proud, but we must ensure that 

we do this within our means, based upon a sustainable financial 

position. 

This will mean transforming the way we deliver some services and 

doing some things differently with the help of our communities and 

partners. 

Our journey towards becoming a Safe, Clean, Ambitious and 

Proud city is one that we will take together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

[Placeholder for Challenges and Opportunities Infographic] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

[Placeholder for Challenges and Opportunities Infographic] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 35



12 
 

Outcome One: Clean and Connected Communities 

Nottingham is a city with strong, vibrant and diverse communities, 

where people have a sense of belonging in the place they live, and 

get on well together. 

People are proud of where they live and play an active role in their 

local community. They are connected physically, through clean and 

green shared spaces and places to enjoy, and digitally, to 

opportunities, training and local services and support when they 

need them. 

What we have done: 

■ Worked with local people and community organisations to 

expand and protect Nottingham’s 73 Green Flag award-winning 

parks for people to enjoy. 

■ Managed well-kept public spaces and kept Nottingham tidy, 

including removing xxx tonnes of waste, cleaning up 2,313 incidents 

of graffiti and over 22,000 incidents of fly-tipping. 

■ Maintained efficient and responsive fortnightly waste and bulky 

waste collections. 

■ Supported citizen volunteer Community Champions who 

undertake regular litter picking to keep their open and green 

spaces tidy, supporting the work of the council’s parks and 

streetscene team. 

■ Supported the Nottingham Together programme to bring local 

communities together, and create good neighbours and 

neighbourhoods. 

■ Worked with partners to support a network for women in 

Nottingham. 

■ Carried out audits of our green spaces and produced a “Natural 

Capital Account for Nottingham” through the Future Parks 

Accelerator Project, to help protect our green spaces and ensure 

they are accessible for everyone. 

 

What we will do 

■ Work with local residents, community groups and the voluntary 

sector on the issues that are most important in your area, and 

provide more opportunities for people to volunteer and get 

involved in social action where they live. 

■ Ensure your neighbourhood is clean, with well-managed spaces 

and problems such as graffiti and littering addressed. 

■ Work with communities across the city to support cohesion and 

ensure Nottingham remains a strong, vibrant and diverse city in 

future. 

 

How we will measure improvement 

■ Number of people who feel there is a strong sense of community. 

■ Number of activities and events in neighbourhoods to promote 

social integration and create opportunities for engagement. 

■ % of inspections meeting Grade A standard - Street Cleansing City 

Centre & Neighbourhoods. 

■ Number of citizens volunteering as Community Champions. 

  

P
age 36



13 
 

Key activities to support the outcome 

We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 

achieve the headline outcome: 

■ Aiming to be the cleanest big city in England and keep 

neighbourhoods as clean as the city centre. 

■ Supporting local businesses by providing 364 day a year 

commercial waste collection service. 

■ Managing public spaces, pavements and gullies to minimise 

weeds and keep Nottingham tidy. 

■ Continuing to support the ‘Nottingham Together’ programme, 

by bringing communities together and creating good neighbours 

through an extensive programme of community events and 

activities in every neighbourhood, reflecting and celebrating 

Nottingham’s diversity. 

■ Ensuring voluntary and community organisations are central to 

the way we consult citizens. 

■ Increasing the number of people who feel there is a strong sense 

of community where they live by 10%. 

■ Providing a network of community centres where local people 

can come together to provide activities and social support in 

neighbourhoods. 

■ Bringing local people and local groups together to improve their 

neighbourhoods. 

 

■ Explore opportunities to strategically invest Corporate Social 

Responsibility activity with local businesses into our communities. 

■ Working with partners to be a city that welcomes those in need 

of refuge or shelter. 

■ Working with the voluntary sector to ensure that welfare rights 

advice is available in all areas of the city. 

■ Contributing to a Violence against Women and Girls Strategy, 

working with partners including the Police, transport providers and 

venues to address the safety of women and girls in their homes 
and their communities. 

■ Considering how to reduce inequalities within local decisions by 

strengthening our Equalities Impact Assessments. 

■ Developing a ‘you said, we did’ programme for neighbourhood 

working through area partnerships with residents. 

■ Reducing fly tipping by investigating and fining more fly tippers. 

■ Providing a network of inclusive, sustainable and quality public 

libraries to compliment the new Central Library, and which meet 

the needs of Nottingham citizens. 

■ Prioritising removal of graffiti. 

■ Maintaining access to community based benefit and debt advice. 

■ We will continue to consult local communities with regards to 

existing assets. We will ensure that new services and developments 

are all inclusive, whilst tackling existing and new inequalities. 

■ We will keep listening to members of all of our communities on 

the inequalities highlighted by the pandemic, and engage on how 

P
age 37



14 
 

best to protect Nottingham people from the unequal impacts of 

COVID-19 

■ We will map council and community assets that can support 
reducing BAME and other inequalities and strengthen community 
resilience. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 38



15 
 

Outcome Two: Keeping Nottingham Working 
 
Nottingham is a great place to work, study and do business in. It is a 
culturally vibrant and attractive city where families want to live, 
businesses want to invest, and people want to visit for a good day 
out or long weekend. 
 
The Covid pandemic has thrown up fresh challenges for places 
across the country and Nottingham is no exception. Unemployment 
in the city currently stands at 8%, with 4,000 jobs in the retail and 
hospitality sectors lost. 
 
Local businesses and people have shown their resilience 
throughout the pandemic, but in spite of this business closures still 
peaked at 1,200 businesses closing their doors in October 2020 
alone. 
 
In response, we have set out a clear plan for the city’s economic 
recovery and renewal, building on our strengths in low carbon, 
digital technology, life sciences and the creative industries, whilst 
continuing to support our hospitality and retail sectors. 
 
At the centre of our plan is the aim to build back fairer as a City, 
offering opportunities for everyone, with programmes of skills and 
employment support for communities that have been hit hardest 
by Covid-19. 
 
What we have done: 
■ Helped 3,188 people into a job, education or training (since Jan 
2019). 

■ Supported 274 people into apprenticeships (since Jan 2019). 

■ Distributed over £95m of business support grants and £40m of 
business rates relief to help local businesses through the pandemic. 
■ Established the Nottingham Jobs Hub with the DWP and partners 
– a one stop shop for job support, advice and welfare advice in 
Nottingham. 
 
What we will do 
■ Help local people into good quality employment through: 

■ Ensuring a range of training is available for people to 
acquire basic skills, new skills and higher level skills so that 
they can access new job opportunities. 
■ Providing targeted programmes of support for people 
most affected by Covid – young people, BAME, women, 
people over 50, people with disabilities and/or long-term 
health conditions – to enable them to access good quality 
jobs. 

■ Work with our key institutions, businesses and communities to 
improve the employment prospects and progression routes for 
local people, to help raise local incomes, skill levels and wellbeing, 
■ Support existing businesses and invest in future growth sectors to 
create job opportunities for local people. 
■ Address the long-standing inequalities that impact our diverse 
communities, which have been worsened by Covid-19. 
■ Grow Nottingham’s economy through attracting inward 
investment into the city to create jobs, bringing back into use 
vacant sites, and ensuring new development provide the spaces 
and places that people and businesses want as we recover from the 
impact of Covid-19. 

P
age 39



16 
 

■ Work with our Business Improvement District and Cultural 
partners to promote the City as a positive visitor destination 
location. 
■ Work towards an application to become City of Culture in 2029. 
 
How we will measure improvement 
■ Number of local jobs created. 
■ Numbers in Education, Employment or Training/Not in Education, 
Employment or Training. 
■ Jobs Growth. 
■ Number of new businesses. 
■ Office space levels and occupancy. 
 
Key activities to support the outcome 
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Creating 15,000 new jobs for Nottingham people. 
■ Completing Nottingham Science Park, Unity Square, Players Site 
and Energy Park, and progress the Island Site and Boots to provide 
employment opportunities for Nottingham people. 
■ Fighting to ensure that UK government funding replaces current 
EU funding for economic development activity in Nottingham. 
■ Bringing 20 vacant sites back into use for employment 
opportunities for local people. 
■ Continuing to guarantee a job, training or further education place 
for all 18-24 year olds. 
■ Develop a Nottingham Economic Recovery and Renewal Plan. 

■ Increase the number of Nottingham residents with level 2 
qualifications and deliver a community and family learning service. 
■ Helping 500 people who are over 50 into work or training. 
■ Continuing to promote science, technology and creative 
industries as Nottingham’s key industrial growth sectors. 
■ Developing Nottingham’s Creative Quarter and creative 
industries into a regionally significant economic sector. 
■ Ensuring all small and medium sized (SME) businesses have 
access to support through the Nottingham Growth Hub to help 
businesses grow the value of jobs on offer and work directly with 
500 SMEs run by underrepresented groups. 
■ Helping create a positive environment for social enterprises and 
support the development of 10 new cooperative businesses. 
■ Securing more inward investment than any other city in the East 
Midlands. 
■ Using the Council’s purchasing power to support local jobs, 
apprenticeships and businesses.  
■ Seeking funding for Jobs Fairs across the city. 
■ Continuing to support residents into work through the 

Nottingham Jobs Hub. 
■ Supporting 1000 residents into work by securing external funding 
for programmes across the city. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



17 
 

Outcome Three: Carbon Neutral by 2028 
 
People live in a green and sustainable city, where clean air, green 
growth and a good environment improve health and wellbeing, 
whilst also protecting the city from the adverse effects of climate 
change and nature. 
 
We have a long history of a being a leader on climate action, from 
setting the most ambitious carbon neutral target of any Core City in 
the UK, to launching the Nottingham Climate Change Declaration in 
2011 – the first local authority in England to formally recognise the 
challenge climate change poses and calling on other authorities to 
do the same. 
 
Our ambition for the city to be carbon neutral by 2028 is based on 
four key objectives: 
■ Significantly reducing carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions across a 
variety of themes such as transport. 
■ Offsetting city emissions through a range of actions such as tree 
planting. 
■ Making the city resilient and adapted to the adverse impacts of 
climate change such as flooding risk. 
■ Improving the city’s natural environment. 
 
We will work with all willing partners, communities and citizens to 
help Nottingham find new ways of doing things to reduce, manage 
and mitigate the impact of climate change. 
 
This agenda offers an opportunity to tackle some of the key 
challenges facing the city, whilst also addressing the long standing 

inequalities in Nottingham, and ensuring the benefits of a greener 
and more sustainable city are shared by all citizens. 
 
What we have done: 
■Cut CO2 emissions in the city by 42% based on 2005 levels. 
■ Planted over 10,000 trees across the city.  
■ 21% of the city’s energy comes from renewable and low carbon 
energy sources within the city boundary. 
■ Published an ambitious 2028 carbon neutral charter and action 
plan with partners and our communities. 
 
What we will do: 
■ Work with local people, partners and businesses to become the 
first carbon neutral city in the country, aiming to reach this target 
by 2028. 
■ As we aim to be carbon neutral, support a “just transition” for 
Nottingham, that provides new green jobs for local people, helps 
our communities and businesses to decarbonise, and provides a 
liveable and sustainable city we can all be proud of. 
■ Improve air quality in Nottingham by cutting Nitrogen Dioxide 
and particulate pollution. 
■ Reduce plastic use by providing water bottle refill stations in the 
city centre, encouraging households to manage their waste better, 
and making the City Council single-use plastic free. 
■ We will continue to reduce fuel poverty in Nottingham, by 
helping households to save on their energy bills, through improving 
energy efficiency and energy generation. 
■ Produce a new Green Space strategy for the enhancement and 
management of City’s vital green spaces over the next 25 years. 
 

P
age 41



18 
 

How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ CO2 emissions. 
■ NO2 and PM 2.5/10 levels. 
■ Percentage of household waste recycled. 
■ Improved energy and thermal efficiency in homes. 
■ Number of households in fuel poverty 
 
Key activities to support the outcome: 
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Becoming the first carbon neutral city in the country. 
■ Improving air quality in Nottingham by cutting Nitrogen Dioxide 
and particulate pollution by 20%. 
■ Ensuring that all Nottingham Hackney carriage fleet is ultra-low 
emissions, reduce the maximum age of taxis from 15 to 12 years 
and exclude dirty diesel taxis from the city centre. 
■ Reducing the number of people experiencing fuel poverty by 
10%. 
■ Ensuring that all planning and development decisions take 
account of environmental and sustainability considerations and 
ensure Nottingham is a “bee-friendly” city with suitable habitats in 
every neighbourhood. 
■ Working with local groups to publicise 'fix-it' days in areas across 
the city, helping local people re-use and recycle household items. 

■ Reducing plastic use by providing water bottle refill stations in 

the city centre and make the Council single-use plastic free. 

■ Working with the Environment Agency to protect 750 more 
homes from the risk of flooding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 42



19 
 

Outcome Four: Safer Nottingham 
 
Nottingham will be a safer city with low levels of crime and anti-
social behaviour (ASB). People will feel safe and secure in the city 
centre, their neighbourhood, and their home. 
 
We have achieved some significant successes in reducing levels of 
crime and ASB in the city, through commissioning high quality 
substance misuse services, partnership working on tackling 
burglary, and working with victims and perpetrators to reduce 
domestic violence. 
 
However, we face many new challenges as a result of the 
pandemic, and the long-term improvements for citizens we’ve 
made will only be maintained if we continue to address problems 
locally and tackle the root causes of crime and ASB in our city. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ Supported the ‘Nottingham Together’ programme, bringing local 
communities in Nottingham together which has (example of what it 
has delivered). 
■ Implemented the City Centre Public Space Protection Order 
(PSPO), and used PSPOs to tackle anti-social behaviour in 
neighbourhoods that needed it. 
■ Campaigned to increase the number of Police Officers and PCSOs 
on Nottingham’s streets. 
■ Worked with partners to develop and launch a Hate Crime 
Strategy for Nottingham. 
 

What we will do: 
 
■ We are committed to reducing crime locally, and through the 
Nottingham Crime and Drugs Partnership we will work to make 
Nottingham a safer city. 
■ We are focused on prevention, and will maintain our multi-
agency approach to tackle key risks facing the city; whether that is 
our frontline social workers continuing to keep Nottingham’s young 
people safe, or working with partners to help people get treatment 
for drug and alcohol misuse. 
■ We will collaborate more effectively with our two leading 
universities to improve students’ experience of Nottingham, and 
local people’s experience of living in a city with a large student 
population. 
■ We know Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) is a key concern for local 
people, and we will continue to support measures to reduce it. 
■ We will work closely with the Police, partners and voluntary 
groups to support survivors of domestic abuse and keep them safe. 
■ We will work with our communities, Police and others to tackle 
hate crime in Nottingham, and maintain and cohesive 
communities in Nottingham. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ ASB reporting. 
■ Recorded crime. 
■ Hate Crime reporting. 
■ Domestic Violence reporting. 
■ Substance misuse treatment success. 
 

P
age 43



20 
 

Key activities to support the outcome: 
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Cutting crime, and reducing anti-social behaviour. 
■ Continuing to enforce the City Centre PSPO to create a safer, 
cleaner and more enjoyable environment to visit. 
■ Working with the Nottingham BID to maintain Nottingham’s 
Purple Flag status. 
■ Working with our communities, Police and others to tackle hate 
crime, including reducing repeat hate crimes by 10%, and 
maintaining strong and cohesive communities in Nottingham. 
■ Following the results of the Respect Survey, creating an annual 
‘Respect Plan’ for each area of the city, detailing what the council 
and its partners will do in your area to improve cleanliness, crime 
and tackle antisocial behaviour. 
■ Working in partnership with all key Nottingham transport 
providers and wider partners to ensure safety of the public 
transport network. 
■ Create an additional REACT team who can be easily contacted to 
deal with Anti-Social Behaviour and community issues. 
■ Working with our two universities to deliver Operation Corridor, 
taking into account the enforcement and welfare of students living 
off campus. 
■ Maintaining sufficient social work capacity to keep Nottingham’s 
young people safe and adults protected. 
■ Maintaining 24 hour staffed CCTV monitoring. 
 

■ Continuing to provide teams who deal with noise nuisance and 
responding to complaints of noisy neighbours within 48 hours. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 44



21 
 

Outcome Five: Child-Friendly Nottingham 
 
Every child in Nottingham will get the best start in life, regardless of 
their circumstances. We will support local children to thrive 
academically, emotionally and physically, ensuring equality of 
opportunity for all. 
 
We will also work hard to protect the most vulnerable children in 
our city, helping our children and families to overcome difficulties, 
benefit from early and effective support, and provide a city in 
which they can all thrive. 
 
To do this, we will work with children, parents, communities, 
schools and nurseries to ensure Nottingham is a ‘child-friendly’ city, 
where the views and needs of children and their parents/carers are 
actively listened to and embedded across all of our activities. 
 
We will also encourage our partners to do the same, to help jointly 
deliver a step change in the opportunities and life chances for 
children in Nottingham. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ 84% of our local schools are rated “good or outstanding” by 
Ofsted. This rises to 97% rated “good or outstanding” for local 
authority maintained schools. 
■ Ensured that every primary school in Nottingham has an 
affordable breakfast club. 
■ Supported 1,341 vulnerable young people and 688 Children in 
Care. 

■ Tackled holiday hunger by providing free school meals. 
■ Diverted at risk children and young people away from violence 
and into positive activities as lockdown restrictions lift through 
delivering two-hour outreach session on Wednesday, Thursday and 
Friday evenings. 
■ Delivered our U-Turn Custody Intervention programme which 
aims to reduce youth reoffending through support from trained 
youth workers. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ Continue to provide the vital statutory services that support and 
protect vulnerable children, including safeguarding, children in 
care, those with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 
and other vulnerable groups. 
■ Work hard to improve our Children’s Services, to ensure we 
provide the quality of service local children and families deserve. 
■ We will help our local families to give their babies and children 
the best start in life, continuing to support Early Years 
development, promoting the health and wellbeing of babies and 
children, as well as their families and carers, including maternal 
health. 
■ Encourage take up of funded childcare and nursery places to 
support early years development 
■ We will help our children to achieve their potential through 
ensuring our children are ready for school when they start, that 
they are engaged, nurtured and supported to achieve their best 
throughout their education, and children from disadvantaged 
backgrounds have the same opportunities and chances as their 
peers. 

P
age 45



22 
 

■ We understand Covid-19 has impacted the city’s children. We will 
work with schools and our partners to support the emotional and 
physical wellbeing of the city’s children. We will also assist where 
possible with students’ recovery from the learning loss which is 
likely to have hit the most deprived children in our city the hardest. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Percentage of pupils achieving expected standard in Reading, 
Writing and Maths at end of KS2. 
■ GCSE attainment levels compared to the national average for 
England. 
■ Take up of Two Year childcare places / free nursery education. 
■ Inequalities between areas - including in levels child poverty, 
educational attainment and other key indicators of inequality. 
■ Attainment of Children in Care. 
■ School Exclusions 
 
Key activities to support the outcome: 
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Building a new Central Library, with a particular focus on children 
and young people.  
■ Supporting and influencing all Nottingham schools to be rated 
Good or Outstanding by Ofsted. 
■ Supporting and challenging schools to have inclusive practice and 
provide early intervention, and campaign against permanent 

exclusions and 'off-rolling' to make sure every Nottingham child is 
in school. 
■ Providing a free book every month from birth to 5 years for 
10,000 Nottingham children. 
■ Closing the gap of GCSE attainment to within 5% of the national 
average. 
■ Guaranteeing a choice of places at a local primary and secondary 
school for every Nottingham child. 
■ Increasing attendance in Nottingham schools to above the 
national average. 
■ Supporting mainstream schools to ensure that children with 
additional needs can progress well. 
■ Tackling holiday hunger by supporting school holiday lunch clubs 
in our most deprived neighbourhoods and campaigning to extend 
free school meals to all primary school children by 2025. 
■ Working with schools to promote an understanding of good 
mental health wellbeing amongst staff and children. 
■ Supporting parents of young children by bringing together help 
and parenting advice close to home. 
■ Consulting young people on important decisions and involve 
them in the Council’s decision making processes. 
■ Ensuring at least 75% of eligible 2 year olds access free nursery 
provision. 
■ Increase the number of Nottingham foster carers year-on-year to 
provide a more settled home for Children in Care. 
■ Supporting 1,000 more Nottingham young people into learning 
and work, and work with businesses to create 500 new 
apprenticeships. 
■ Working with at least 500 young people each year at risk of 
becoming involved in gangs and knife crime or at risk of 

P
age 46



23 
 

exploitation. 
■ Delivering a programme of free and cheap summer holiday 
activities for families and children in every neighbourhood. 
■ Creating more smoke free zones in areas regularly accessed by 
children. 
■ Supporting parents to look after their children at home through 
funding early intervention and prevention programmes that keep 
families together. 
■ Providing positive activities for children and their families across 
the city. 
■ Continuing to provide assessment and consultation for children 
with poor mental health. 
■ Prioritising funding of school uniform grants. 
■ Prioritising the continuation of the Education Welfare Service, 
and working in partnership to improve the Education Partnership 
Board. 
■ We understand that Covid-19 and the lockdown has impacted on 
the mental health of children and we will work with schools and 
our other partners to support the emotional wellbeing of the city’s 
children. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 47



24 
 

Outcome Six: Healthy and Inclusive 
 
Nottingham will be a healthy and inclusive city, where people take 
responsibility for their health and wellbeing, and are supported to 
enjoy good health, live well and keep active throughout their lives. 
 
In response to the Covid-19 pandemic we have worked with our 
communities, the NHS, Police and others to ensure a joined-up 
approach to dealing with the virus that has impacted our city. 
 
Our staff have been at the heart of that response, whether it has 
been on the frontline directly supporting vulnerable people, or 
working from home to ensure our services can continue to support 
the city and our citizens. The impact of the virus has highlighted 
long-standing health inequalities in Nottingham and across the UK, 
with marked differences in health outcomes between different 
groups of people, depending on their income and/or ethnicity. 
 
People from areas with higher levels of socio-economic deprivation, 
or from Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) communities have 
been disproportionately impacted by the pandemic, and we will 
proactively work with our communities and partners to help 
address these longstanding inequalities locally. 
 
The virus will continue to be with us for some time, and as we 
collectively start to return to our everyday lives, the City Council 
will continue to play its part in supporting a safe, inclusive and 
equitable recovery for Nottingham. 
 
 

What we have done: 
 
■ Carried out over 5,000 welfare visits to vulnerable people and 
supported over 4,000 residents with food, prescriptions and advice 
in response to Covid-19. 
■ Set up a helpline for citizens to call for help, receiving over 
170,000 calls so far seeking support as a result of Covid-19. 
■ Opened three asymptomatic testing centres in the city, and 
supported the local NHS to open nine vaccination centres. 
■ Increased physical activity rates in the city and helped xxx people 
to live more active, healthier lives. 
■ Made xxx referrals to preventative services. 
■ Maintained a network of good quality parks and open spaces to 
help people with their physical and mental wellbeing. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ With health and social care partners and our communities, we 
will develop a new citizen and neighbourhood centred model of 
health and social care, which delivers an inclusive and integrated 
community approach to meeting citizens’ needs. 
■ We will work with the local NHS, our communities and key local 
leaders to improve the overall health and wellbeing of people in 
Nottingham and address the health inequalities that exist. 
■ With partners, we will actively work to address the mental and 
physical impact on local people of Covid-19, supporting them as 
they recover, including actively seeking to help those groups and 
individuals with existing health inequalities that have been 
worsened by Covid-19. 

P
age 48



25 
 

■ We will support people to live active and healthy lives as they get 
older, and assist them to live in their homes and communities for 
longer, as well as addressing the factors that prevent this. 
■ We will continue to support vital preventative health services in 
the city, including sexual health screening and substance misuse 
services across the city. 
■ As we all learn to live with Covid-19, we will continue to 
proactively support national efforts to control the virus and ensure 
we can all stay safe and well. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Improvement in healthy life expectancy, closing the gap between 
Nottingham and the England average. 
■ Reduction in health inequalities between local areas in 
Nottingham. 
■ Physical activity – including disabled use of leisure centres. 
■ Covid-19 case numbers and vaccination rates for 
Nottingham City. 
 
Key activities to support the outcome: 
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Working in partnership to develop a new citizen and 
neighbourhood centred integrated model of health and social care 
that improves the employment conditions of staff in social care, 
and delivers a more inclusive community approach to meeting our 
citizen’s needs. 

■ Increasing opportunities for people in the city to become more 
physically active. 
■ Further developing the Council’s commitment to being a 
‘Dementia-Friendly City’ and supporting people with dementia and 
their carers. 
■ Reducing teenage pregnancy. 
■ Working with our health partners to prevent mental ill health, 
supporting those living with existing mental health issues and those 
most impacted by the pandemic, including through isolation, 
anxiety and loss. 
■ Increasing the provision of services to support women to stop 
smoking during pregnancy. 
■ We will proactively take opportunities to offer advice around 
alcohol dependency to our citizens. 
■ Improving sexual health through the maintenance and 
development of accessible screening, service provision, outreach 
and education. 
 
Covid-19 Response: 
 
We will remain vigilant to the impact of Covid-19 and other 
pandemics through a responsive and adaptive approach to public 
health: 
 
■ Encouraging all eligible citizens to receive vaccinations as 
available. 
■ Communicating and promoting the ongoing benefits of physical 
distancing, mask wearing and hand washing; what to do in the 
event of symptoms appearing and other ways of preventing 
infection. 

P
age 49



26 
 

■ If facing further outbreaks, we will explain what response people 
can expect from us and the actions people and businesses will need 
to take. We will focus on building trust, participation, consent and 
co-operation. 
■ Proactively supporting the delivery of the NHS Test & Trace 
service through contacting positive cases they have failed to reach. 
■ Understanding patterns of infection in the city and take swift 
action to reduce the spread. 
■ Learning from our experiences and the experiences of others in 
tackling Covid-19 so that Nottingham is well protected. 
■ Aiding our colleagues and partners in using PPE appropriately and 
make sure they have the PPE they need to do their job. 
■ Having well-skilled colleagues available when and where they are 
needed to fight Covid-19 and support the most vulnerable. 
■ Continuing to work with care providers to reduce the risks facing 
citizens and carers including through procurement of PPE, the 
recruitment of additional staff and regular contact by phone, email 
and via AskLion. 
■ Helping our partners to support both those living with existing 
mental health issues and those most impacted by  lockdown, 
anxiety, isolation and loss. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 50



27 
 

Outcome Seven: Keeping Nottingham Moving: 
 
Nottingham is a well-connected city, with high quality affordable 
transport links both within the city and the region, and to the rest 
of the UK. 
 
A comprehensive public transport network offers frequent, reliable, 
and environmentally-friendly travel, connecting local people to 
jobs, education, keys services and leisure opportunities. 
 
Improving air quality and reducing harmful carbon emissions from 
transport are key priorities. The city remains at the forefront of 
electric transport initiatives and encouraging active travel through 
improvements to our walking and cycling infrastructure. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ Filled xxxxx potholes, improved xxx pavements and resurfaced xx 
roads citywide. 
■ Created 80 miles of traffic-free cycle lanes. 
■ Created an integrated, multi-operator public transport network 
that had among the highest usage outside London (pre-Covid). 
■ Installed more than 400 electric vehicle charge points in 
Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ Keep Nottingham moving by maintaining our high-quality public 
transport and highway network, enhancing connections to 
employment, key services and leisure opportunities. 

■ Support a green recovery from Covid-19 and support our Carbon 
Neutral 2028 ambitions through encouraging and enabling 
sustainable transport use. 
■ Campaign for and connect to regional and national transport 
projects that support future development and the local economy. 
■ Make walking and cycling a more attractive option by providing a 
new city wide cycle hire scheme, better cycling facilities, and new 
or improved routes into and across the city centre, including 
building a new pedestrian and cycle bridge over the River Trent, 
improving connections between Waterside and Lady Bay.  
■ Continue to be at the forefront of new and emerging 
technologies. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Number of passenger journeys on public transport and 
satisfaction levels. 
■ Number of potholes repaired, pavements and roads resurfaced. 
■ Use of new infrastructure and facilities, and engagement with  
support programmes. 
■ Improvement in air quality and lower carbon emissions. 
 
Key activities to support the outcome: 
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Ensuring the city has a comprehensive public transport network. 

P
age 51



28 
 

■ Continuing to work with partners to help Nottingham people 
access jobs by promoting tram extensions through Waterside, 
south of Clifton, and to the proposed new HS2 Station. 
■ Making public transport even more convenient through the 
introduction of multi-operator contactless payment and continued 
improvements to the multi-operator Robin Hood Card. 
■ Introducing contactless payments for city centre parking. 
■ Supporting plans to double passenger and freight traffic at East 
Midlands Airport, and campaign for a dual carriageway and 
passenger rail link to the airport, Donington Park, and associated 
employment sites. 
■ Campaigning strongly for HS2 to be built in full, including a 
station at Toton and the redevelopment of land around the station 
to create jobs and promote growth. 
■ Continuing to campaign for the electrification of the Midland 
Main Line. 
■ Working with public transport operators to maintain a 
comprehensive network for all communities, connecting people to 
jobs, key services and leisure 
■ Campaigning for the same transport discounts for 16-21 year-olds 
as those provided to students 
■ Continuing to grow our fleet of electric vehicles, supporting local 
businesses to switch to greener vehicles, and trialling new and 
emerging technologies 
■ Keeping Nottingham moving through comprehensive road and 
pavement gritting and maintenance programmes 
■ Filling 50,000 potholes, improving pavements and resurfacing 100 
roads citywide. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 52



29 
 

Outcome Eight: Improve the City Centre: 
 
Nottingham is a city of ambition and culture, but the Covid-19 
pandemic has had a severe impact on the city centre in particular, 
impacting local jobs and businesses. We have seen this most starkly 
in relation to the retail economy and the collapse of INTU and their 
proposals for the Broad Marsh Shopping Centre. 
 
City centres have a key role to play in driving the local economy as 
we rebuild after Covid-19, but the look and feel of city centres is 
changing, with less focus on retail, and more on a mixed use of 
shops, offices, community facilities, places to live and leisure. 
 
We want to ensure the city centre is a place for everyone to visit, 
spend time and enjoy. 
 
The council has stepped in and assumed control of the Broad Marsh 
Shopping Centre in November 2020 and has engaged over 3000 
citizens in a “Big Conversation” as part of the process for bringing 
forward a renewed and compelling vision for our city centre. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ Delivered the £30 million redevelopment of Nottingham Castle 
on budget, re-opening in June 2021. 
■ Made significant progress on the regeneration of the south side 
of the city – with the new car park and bus station built, and 
ambitious plans being developed for Broad Marsh, now that we 
have control of the site. 
■ Completed build of the new Central Library. 

■ New HMRC Headquarters opening in early 2022. 
■ Approval given for redevelopment of the Island Quarter – the 
largest urban regeneration project in the UK. Development has 
already started on site. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ Create a city centre that is an attractive, vibrant and safe place 
for everyone to live, work, and spend time. 
■ Promote the city and attract people to the city centre, to live, 
work, study and play. 
■ Support and deliver key regeneration projects that bring local 
jobs and growth to Nottingham, as well as raising Nottingham’s 
profile locally, regionally, nationally and internationally. 
■ Work with small and medium sized businesses, key institutions in 
the city (NHS, Universities, large employers), and others to improve 
the opportunities and employment prospects for local people. 
■ Bring forward ambitious plans for the redevelopment of Broad 
Marsh – to ensure a key area of the city is regenerated, in line with 
the wishes and needs of local people. 
■ Promote culture, leisure and tourism in the city, including 
maximising the re-opening of Nottingham Castle and supporting 
the city’s night-time economy. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Visitor numbers at city venues. 
■ Footfall. 
■ Purple Flag status. 
■ Jobs/growth created by key regeneration projects. 

P
age 53



30 
 

■ Number of vacant shops in City Centre. 
 
Key activities to support the outcome:  
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 
 
■ Creating a new vision for the city centre, including increasing the 
leisure and visitor offer. 
■ Completing the development of and reopen Nottingham Castle as 
a major national heritage attraction. 
■ Continuing the transformation of the south side of city centre, 
including the college, library, Broad Marsh car park, bus station and 
public realm, and start work on the previous shopping centre site. 
■ Hosting international events for Nottingham residents and 
visitors that showcase Nottingham’s assets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 54



31 
 

Outcome Nine: Better Housing: 
 
Our aspiration for Nottingham is that local people will be able to 
live in safe, warm and affordable homes, built to a high standard, in 
vibrant local communities where everyone has a chance to thrive. 
 
Nottingham has high levels of renting, but low levels of home 
ownership. House prices in the area are rising, but average earnings 
in Nottingham are lower than average, impacting housing 
affordability.  
 
Homelessness is a challenge for the city, and too many people have 
been living in sub-standard housing, impacting their health and 
wellbeing. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ Through our arms-length council company, Nottingham City 
Homes, ensure that 25,364 rented council homes are maintained to 
the Decent Homes standard. 
■ Since 2019 built xx number of good quality homes for 
Nottingham households in the city. 
■ Built or acquired 328 affordable homes and homes for homeless 
people. 
■ Used our landlord licensing schemes to ensure local people in 
rented accommodation have safe, good quality places to call home, 
including issuing more than 25,000 licenses and carrying out 
compliance activity on these licences. We have also undertaken 
investigation and enforcement action in line with the Council’s 
enforcement policy to better regulate unlicensed properties. 

■ Ensured Nottingham people who were homeless or sleeping 
rough during the pandemic were kept safe by providing temporary 
accommodation and support.  
■ Brought 100 empty homes back into use. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ We will help deliver new affordable homes and well-balanced 
neighbourhoods with a mix of housing types that meet 
Nottingham’s future needs. 
■ We will work to ensure that new developments are linked to the 
local amenities, green spaces and good public transport that local 
people want and need. 
■ We will tackle poor-quality housing in Nottingham, regardless of 
tenure and continue to drive up housing standards in the city, 
ensuring sustainable communities and neighbourhoods for 
residents. 
■ We will reduce the number of rough sleepers in Nottingham, 
decrease the number of households at risk of becoming homeless, 
and minimise the use of temporary B&B accommodation for 
housing households in need of support. 
■ We have undertaken extensive works across the city to refit 
Council houses to make them more energy efficient with 
improvements such as loft insulation, cavity wall insulation, new 
boilers, new doors and windows, and over 4,000 solar panel arrays 
installed. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 55



32 
 

How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Number of affordable homes and homes for homeless people. 
■ Proportion of residents satisfied with their housing, community 
and local area. 
■ Proportion of Council tenants happy with their home. 
■ Number of private rented properties improved. 
■ Number of homelessness preventions. 
 
Key activities to support the outcome: 
 
■ Increasing the number of social, affordable homes and homes for 
the homeless by 1000. 
■ Ensuring the development of 4000 new homes including 
aspirational eco-homes and low-cost homes to rent or buy. 
■ Transforming the land alongside the River Trent into a 
neighbourhood of choice, working with Blueprint to build 
sustainable new homes. 
■ Encouraging the creation of lifetime homes wherever possible, 
ensuring that new homes have due regard for accessibility and 
space standards. 
■ Making sure that any new housing developments, such as the 
one proposed in Clifton, are fully served with jobs, shops and 
services for local people. 
■ Encouraging purpose-built student accommodation in places 
where it reduces pressure on family housing. 
■ Improving the conditions of Nottingham’s heritage buildings 
through the creation of an arms-length management company. 
■ Using our landlord licensing schemes and all other powers to 
improve the overall standards of private rented accommodation in 

Nottingham and tackle rogue landlords. 
■ Aiming to provide settled homes for homeless people and work 
towards no rough sleeping in the city 
■ Improving the standards of rented accommodation for students; 
working with landlords to ensure students know how to raise 
concerns about their property. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



33 
 

Outcome Ten: Financial Stability 
 
Despite a backdrop of significant funding reductions over recent 
years we will manage our finances in a sustainable way, to help us 
reach a strong financial position in the medium term, and continue 
to deliver the well planned, modern, effective and value for money 
public services that local people expect us to. 
 
We will do this through aligning our ambitions for the City and City 
Council (as set out in this Strategic Council Plan), with the resources 
available to us. 
 
Given the wider economic uncertainty as we all recover from the 
Pandemic, we will ensure our finances are sustainable and stable 
over the long term, with a balanced budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the period 2021/22 to 2024/25. 
 
We will also need to carefully manage our Capital and Investment 
Programme, reduce external borrowing, and generate more Capital 
Receipts through disposing of assets that are no longer needed. 
 
We have also reviewed our council-owned companies, to ensure 
appropriate financial, governance, and management arrangements 
are in place. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ Swiftly implemented remedial action following the External 
Auditors’ Report on Robin Hood Energy. 

■ Commissioned an external review on Council Owned Companies 
to help determine whether to retain or dispose/divest of them in 
future. 
■ Submitted a Capitalisation request and obtain support through a 
Capitalisation Direction from the Secretary of State, to help 
stabilise our financial position in the short term, and meet the costs 
of transformation. 
■ Undertaken a financial assessment of the costs and deliverability 
of the refreshed Council Plan as part of our MTFS process, to 
ensure the activities within it are affordable within the resources 
available to us in the medium to long term. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ Set out a sustainable financial plan which supports the 
achievement of the Council objectives in each year for the period 
2022/23 to 2025/26. 
■ We will review our property assets portfolio and sell those that 
can be more productively used for the benefit of the city and 
generate income to invest in capital projects. 
■ This includes generating more capital by sale of land and 
property the Council no longer requires. 
■ Review our Capital Programme to ensure it is affordable in the 
long term, as the level of council borrowing is reduced. 
■ Review our current council-owned companies and wider 
commercial activity, to ensure our companies and any activity are 
aligned with overall priorities of the City Council, support the key 
functions the City Council needs to provide, are appropriately 
governed and managed, and generating a sustainable long-term 
return for the Council. 

P
age 57



34 
 

■ In response to the outcome of the review, we may retain, bring 
in-house or dispose/divest of companies as appropriate to ensure 
the best outcome for the City Council and City overall. 
■ Review how we deliver key services within the resources 
available to us to ensure we can continue to provide the modern, 
effective and value for money services people expect. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Asset sales. 
■ Reserves. 
■ Traded services – profit/loss. 
■ Budget variance. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 58



35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 59



36 
 

Outcome Eleven: Serving People Well 
 
We want to continue to provide good public services that local 
people and businesses can rely on, to do this, we must ensure that 
how the council organises itself and how it uses its resources is 
effective, that we are living within our financial means, and making 
the best use of all the tools we have available to effect positive 
change for Nottingham. 
 
However, we cannot realise our ambitions for the city or the City 
Council alone, and we are committed to working in partnership 
with local people, businesses, the city’s Anchor Institutions 
including our two global universities and leading Hospital Trust, and 
all who share our ambitions for Nottingham to be a Safe, Clean, 
Ambitious and Proud city. 
 
We want to provide accessible and efficient local services, that 
people and partners can have confidence in and rely on to get 
things right first time. 
 
What we have done: 
 
■ In response to the NSR, produced a clear Recovery and 
Improvement Plan for the organisation, covering the next three 
years, which has been approved by the relevant Secretary of State 
at national level. 
■ Made many of our services easily accessible digitally at your 
convenience, but retained other ways of contacting us for those not 
able to contact us online. 
■ Supported local people and the local economy throughout the 

pandemic, whether through loans and grants to businesses, job 
and training support, our public health teams, shielding support for 
vulnerable residents and other activity. 
■ Held a “Big Conversation” with the citizens of Nottingham 
regarding Broad Marsh, following the council gaining control of the 
site in November 2020, where over 3,000 citizens provided their 
views. 
 
What we will do: 
 
■ Monitor and report on a “Whole Council” view of our activities, 
including our finances, through a new Performance Management 
Framework that connects the high level outcomes with individual 
actions and objectives. 
■ Undertake a wide ranging culture and workforce development 
programme to help our officers and councillors build on their 
strengths whilst also developing the new skills and experience 
needed to support the city council, citizens and city over the long 
term. 
■ Deliver a new Constitution, with improved Audit and Overview & 
Scrutiny functions that will hold the City Council to account, and a 
focused work programme that monitors key council projects and 
activity. 
■ Review how we deliver key services, to help us to maximise our 
ability to achieve the headline outcomes, continue to provide 
quality services within the finances available, and rationalise and 
simplify how we work with people, partners and places to deliver 
our services. 
■ Covid: We will have well-skilled colleagues available when and 
where they are needed to fight Covid-19 and support the most 

P
age 60



37 
 

vulnerable. 
■ Involve you in our decision-making, to make sure a diverse range 
of groups, views and voices informs City Council policies and 
decision making. 
■ Provide an annual report of how we are performing against the 
high-level outcomes in this plan. 
■ Engage with local people, partners and interested stakeholders 
on how we are performing and listen to your feedback on where 
we are doing well, and what we can do better. 
■ Ensure the Strategic Plan is kept up to date and current on a 
regular basis, to ensure we are responding to the changing wider 
context in a timely way, and that our ambitions for Nottingham 
remain the right ones for the city. 
 
How we will measure improvement: 
 
■ Be a role model for good governance and best practice of 
council-owned companies within 18 months. 
■ Performance Management Framework is embedded across the 
organisation, helping to ensure that we deliver on our 
commitments, and regular reporting of performance is taking place. 
■ Employee satisfaction with the City Council as an employer. 
■ Resident satisfaction with the City Council and our services. 
■ Percentage of residents who feel they can influence local 
decision-making. 
 
Key activities to support the outcome:   
 
We are undertaking a number of key activities to help the city 
achieve the headline outcome: 

■ Ensuring that meaningful consultation with a diverse range of 
groups forms the basis of decisions made by the council. 
■ Hosting an annual open doors event where visitors are invited 
into public buildings across the city. 
■ Making sure students have a voice in elections by working to 
increase the number of students registered to vote. 
■ Supporting new initiatives that celebrate and champion 
volunteers and community activity. 
■ Ensuring that council decisions, our services and developments 
take account of disability and that public spaces and buildings are 
easy to access. 
■ Continuing apprenticeships at the City Council. 
■ Working with businesses, the public and the voluntary sector to 
write a vision for Nottingham to 2050, built on the dreams and 
aspirations of local people. 
■ Making it easier to contact the council by ensuring services are 
readily accessible online, by telephone or in person, and aiming to 
solve your problem the first time you contact us. 
■ Maintaining annual surveys of residents, making sure decisions 
are evidence based. 
■ Continuing to support a diverse range of free and low cost 
community and cultural events 
■ Working with local businesses and local communities to support 
our neighbourhood centres to thrive. 
■ Continuing to be a Stonewall top 100 employer. 
■ Ensuring Nottingham City Council jobs pay at least the living wage 
and wherever possible commission services from organisations that 
do that same. 
■ Advertising all city council jobs to attract candidates from BAME 
communities and other under-represented groups. 

P
age 61



38 
 

■ Taking positive action to ensure that the make-up of the Council's 

workforce at all levels better reflects Nottingham's diverse 

communities. 

■Taking steps to eradicate the gender pay gap and BAME pay gap 

and work with Council owned companies to close theirs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tracking our Progress and Contact Us: 
 

P
age 62



39 
 

A new Council performance management framework will enable us 
to effectively manage and monitor the progress being made. 
 
Progress against the eleven outcomes will be reported publically on 
an annual basis; on the Council’s website and through the 
Nottingham Arrow. 
 
We will regularly review our plans and progress against the 
outcomes to ensure they remain relevant, deliverable and take into 
account any changes that have taken place. 
 
Contact Us: 
If you would like to share your views on the Council Plan, or have 
any questions, please contact:   
 
councilplan@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 
 

P
age 63

mailto:councilplan@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix 2: Interim Strategic Council Plan Consultation Findings 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Purpose/Background 
 
Consultation and engagement has been carried out on the updated Draft Strategic 
Council Plan. The plan reaffirms our vision (Nottingham is safe, clean, ambitious and 
proud) and 11 priority outcomes. Citizens, partners, businesses and staff were asked 
for their feedback on these, if there is anything missing and what they feel is most 
important. 
 
Consultation was conducted throughout July and predominantly closed 30th July 
except for the final engagement event due to take place 9th Aug. A final evaluation of 
the results and a summary will be produced following the final session.   
 
Methodology 
 

 An online Survey promoted through various channels. Paper copies were 
provided if requested for the purposes of equality. 

 Online Engagement/Question & Answer sessions carried out: 
o Citizens – 20 July 2021 – 16 attendees 
o Staff – 5 July 2021 – 19 attendees 
o Partners/Stakeholders – 9 August 2021  

 Feedback from young people through Youth Council -  7 July 2021 
 
Reponses 
 
In total there were 325 responses across three surveys. 
 

1. Staff – 186 responses 
2. Citizens – 109 responses 
3. Partners – 30 responses 

 
The Vision 

 
Overall respondents agree or strongly agree that the four priorities should form part 
of the vision. Table 1 shows the order in which respondents placed each of the 
priorities. In order these are Safe, Clean, Ambitious and Proud  
 

Agree/Strongly Agree Importance 

Safe 85% Top 

Clean 83% Second 

Ambitious 75% Third 

Proud 67% Bottom 
 Table 1. Agreement and importance of priorities 
 

Although a smaller sample (30 responses), partners favoured ambitious over safe 
and clean when they ranked the priorities.  
 

Page 65



2 
 

From the comments respondents also felt that healthy should also form part of the 
vision and not just be an underlying outcome. 
The outcomes 
 
Respondents were asked to give a priority level to each of the 11 outcomes identified 
in the plan.  
 
The essential or high priority areas were:  

 Financial Stability (57% essential, 29% high priority) 

 Safer Nottingham (55% essential, 37% high priority)  

 Serving People well (47% essential, 38% high priority)  

 Keeping Nottingham Working (44% essential, 42% high priority) 
 
Although the other areas scored lower on respondent’s priority list, all of the 
objectives were seen as important to some degree. 

 
The lower scores were for:  

 Keeping Nottingham Moving (19% essential, 45% high priority) 

 Child Friendly Nottingham (30% essential and 36% high priority) 

 Carbon Neutral (27% essential and 35% a high priority)  

 Improve the city centre (25% essential, 40% high priority). 
 
When looking at the responses from partners, they felt that improving the city centre 
and Child friendly Nottingham were more essential than colleagues and citizens. 

 
Open ended comments 
 
A number of detailed (free text) comments were given, below is an outline of the 
initial analysis1: 
 

 Combine some outcomes so it is a shorter list 

 Financial stability and transparency of the plan - too detailed and needs to be 
further costed and considered 

 Ambitious is something that we should do once the Council is in more stable 
financial position 

 Healthy should be part of the Vision 

 Thinking about Businesses and how they can be engaged better 
 

Q&A Sessions 
 
3 Engagement/Question & Answer sessions have been held with each group, 
colleagues, citizens and partners. The outcome of the partner’s session is still to be 
completed. A further session was also conducted with the Leader and Young people. 
 
Some of the main questions/themes of these sessions were: 
 

 What happens after 2023 as the plan only takes us up to March 2023? 

                                                           
1
 More detailed thematic analysis is still taking place.  

Page 66



3 
 

 How will the council ensure it learns from previous issues around 
Governance? 

 Will the plan ensure budgets are not reduced as much? 

 How can the council protect services? 

 How will you increase public confidence after the recent review? 

 Is there a greater role for citizens and communities and how citizens, 
communities etc. can contribute (e.g. volunteering opportunities)? 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Executive Board 
17 August 2021 

 

Subject: Variation to Admission Arrangements for Nottingham 
City Community Schools for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 
School Years 
 

Corporate 
Director(s)/Director(s): 

Catherine Underwood, Corporate Director for People 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Eunice Campbell-Clarke, Portfolio Holder for 
Leisure, Culture and Schools 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 

Karen Traynor, School Admissions Manager 
0115 8764625 
karen.traynor@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

None 

Subject to call-in:  Yes       No 
 

Key Decision: Yes        No 
Criteria for Key Decision: 
(a)  Expenditure  Income  Savings of £1,000,000 or more taking account 

of the overall impact of the decision 
and/or 
(b) Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in 

the City 
 Yes      No 

 

Type of expenditure:  Revenue   Capital 
 

Total value of the decision: Nil 
 

Wards affected: All 
 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 20 July 2021 
 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme:   
Nottingham People 
Living in Nottingham 
Growing Nottingham 
Respect for Nottingham 
Serving Nottingham Better 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5

mailto:karen.traynor@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
To consider and approve a variation to the Local Authority’s admission arrangements 
for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 school years for community schools that have already 
been determined, in order to comply with a mandatory change to the School 
Admissions Code that must be implemented from 1 September 2021. 
 
Changes to the oversubscription criteria determined for 2021/22 and 2022/23 must 
now give highest priority to “looked after children and all previously looked after 
children, including those children who appear (to the admission authority) to have 
been in state care outside of England and ceased to be in state care as a result of 
being adopted”. The amended oversubscription criteria are attached as Appendix 1. 
No other changes to the admission arrangements are required. 
 

Exempt information: 
None. 
 

Recommendation(s):  

1 To approve the variations to the school admission arrangements for 2021/22 

(which were determined on 18 February 2020) and the admission arrangements 

for 2022/23 (which were determined on 23 February 2021), relating to the 

oversubscription criteria. Without these variations, the admission arrangements 

that have already been determined will no longer comply with the School 

Admissions Code from 1 September 2021.       

 
1 Reasons for recommendations  
 
1.1 The new School Admissions Code requires that highest priority is given to “looked 

after children and all previously looked after children, including those children who 

appear (to the admission authority) to have been in state care outside of England 

and ceased to be in state care as a result of being adopted”. This new provision 

necessitates variations to determined admission arrangements to take effect from 1 

September 2021. 

 

1.2 As these variations will be necessary to comply with a mandatory requirement of the 

Code, it will not be necessary to refer a variation request to the schools’ adjudicator 

(in respect of maintained schools). 

1.3 For the reasons set out in paragraph 1.1, changes have been made to the 
oversubscription criteria determined for 2021/22 and 2022/23 to give highest priority 
to “looked after children and all previously looked after children, including those 
children who appear (to the admission authority) to have been in state care outside 
of England and ceased to be in state care as a result of being adopted”. 
 

2 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 The Local Authority is the admissions authority for community schools and is therefore 

responsible for determining or varying the admission arrangements for these schools. 

Page 70



 

 
2.2 A report will be submitted for inclusion on the Governing Body agenda for all Nottingham 

City community schools to advise governing bodies of this variation to the admission 
arrangements for 2021/22 and 2022/23. 
 

3 Other options considered in making recommendations 
 
3.1 To not vary the admission arrangements: this option is rejected as these variations are 

necessary to comply with a mandatory requirement of the School Admissions Code. 
 

4 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for money/VAT) 
 
4.1 There is no cost implication as a result of the variation to the proposed admissions 

arrangements in relation to oversubscription for the academic year 2021/22 and 
2022/23. 
 

4.2 Funding for the School Admissions service is funded from the Dedicated Schools 
Grant. This budget allocation was approved by Schools Forum for the financial year 
2021/22 on 1 December 2020 and was taken to the Executive Board for approval on 
16 February 2021 as part of the budget setting process. 
 
Advice provided by Julia Holmes, Senior Commercial Business Partner, on 27 July 
2021. 

 
5 Legal and Procurement colleague comments (including risk management issues, 

and legal, Crime and Disorder Act and procurement implications) 
 
5.1 In accordance with s.88C(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

(SSFA), the admission authority for a maintained school must, before the beginning 
of each school year, determine the admission arrangements which are to apply for 
that year. 

 
5.2 As the admission authority, the Council approved the admission arrangements for 

2022/23 in February 2021. 
 
5.3 A new School Admissions Code 2021 (‘the Code’) has been issued under s.84 of the 

SSFA, which will come into force on 1 September 2021. The Code applies to 
admissions to all maintained schools in England and will have effect immediately 
upon coming into force. 

 
5.4 It is the responsibility of the Council to therefore ensure its admissions arrangements 

are compliant with the new Code. As detailed within the report, the new Code 
requires changes to be made to the current admission arrangements imminently to 
ensure compliance, particularly with respect to vulnerable children. 

 
5.5 Admission authorities must determine admission arrangements annually. Once 

determined, they cannot be revised by the admission authority unless the revision is 
necessary to give effect to a mandatory requirement of the Code, admissions laws, a 
determination of the Schools Adjudicator or to correct a misprint. Where changes are 
proposed, the admission authorities must ordinarily consult on them, unless they 

Page 71



 

have not changed from the previous year, subject to having consulted at least once 
every 7 years. 

 
5.6 As the proposed changes are a consequences of statutory requirements imposed 

upon the admission authority by the new Code, the Council is not required to refer to 
the Schools Adjudicator nor consult but the Governing Bodies will be notified of the 
changes. 

 
5.7 As a consequence, the Council is required to vary its existing arrangements quickly 

and this report seeks approval to authorise the variation. 
  
 Advice provided by Dionne Screaton, Solicitor – Commercial Employment and 

Education, on 28 July 2021. 
 
6 Strategic Assets and Property colleague comments (for decisions relating to all 

property assets and associated infrastructure) 
 
6.1 Not applicable. 
 

7 Social value considerations 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8 Regard to the NHS Constitution 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
9.1 An EIA is not required because the report does not represent proposals for a new or 

changing policy, service or function. 
 
10 List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 

published documents or confidential or exempt information) 
 
10.1 None. 
 
11 Published documents referred to in this report 
 
11.1 School Admissions Code 2021 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2 
 
11.2 The School Admissions (Admission Arrangements and Co-ordination of Admission 

Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2012 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/8/made 
 

11.3  Reports to Executive Board on 18 February 2020 and 23 February 2021 setting out the 
school admission arrangements for the 2021/22 and 2022/12 school years 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=7979&Ver
=4 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code--2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/8/made
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=7979&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=7979&Ver=4


 

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=8590&Ver
=4 

Page 73

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=8590&Ver=4
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=8590&Ver=4


 

Appendix 1 

Variation to First admission to primary school criteria:  2021/22 and 2022/23 

 
In the event of oversubscription within any of the criteria listed below, preference will 
be given to applicants who live closest to the school, as measured in a straight line 
(i.e. as the crow flies) from a point at the school campus to a point at the pupil’s 
home, both identified by the Local Land and Property Gazetteer (by a computerised 
geographical information system). Where two or more pupils are equal in all 
respects, and it is therefore not possible to differentiate between them, a method of 
random allocation by drawing lots will be used to allocate places (supervised by 
someone independent of the School Admissions Team). 
 
Pupils who have an Education, Health and Care Plan, where that school is 
named in the child’s statement or plan will be admitted. In this event, the 
number of places that remain available for allocation will be reduced.  

 
1. Places will first be allocated to a ‘looked after child’ or a child who was previously 

looked after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order including children 
who were previously in state care outside of England and who ceased to be in 
state care as a result of being adopted. A looked after child is a child who is (a) 
in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a 
local authority in the exercise of their social services functions in accordance 
with section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989 at the time of making an application 
to a school. A child is regarded as having been in state care outside of England if 
they were in the care of or were accommodated by a public authority, a religious 
organisation, or any other provider of care whose sole or main purpose is to 
benefit society. An adoption order is an order under the Adoption Act 1976 (see 
section 12 adoption orders) and children who were adopted under the Adoption 
and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). Child arrangements 
orders are defined in Section 8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by Section 
12 of the Children and Families Act 2014. Child arrangements orders replace 
residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is 
deemed to be a child arrangements order. Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 
defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order appointing one or more 
individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).  

 
2. Places will then be allocated to pupils who, at the closing date for applications, 

live within the catchment area*, whose parents have requested a place at the 
school and who have a sibling already attending the school whom is expected 
still to be on roll at the proposed date of admission of the applicant sibling. 

 
3. Places will then be allocated to other pupils who, at the closing date for 

applications, live within the catchment area* and whose parents have requested 
a place at the school. 

 
4. Places will then be allocated to pupils who live outside the catchment area, 

whose parents have requested a place at the school and who, at the closing 
date for applications, have a sibling already attending the school whom is 

Page 74



 

expected still to be on roll at the proposed date of admission of the applicant 
sibling. 

 
5. Places will then be allocated to other pupils who live outside the catchment area 

whose parents have requested a place at the school. 
 

*This relates to those pupils living in the catchment area for the school set for the 
2021/22 school year.  Younger siblings of Fernwood Primary pupils, currently living 
in Tom Blower Close, who are on roll at July 2021 (in Years Reception up to Year 5), 
who will still be on roll in the academic year that the sibling is applying for, will have 
priority over ‘non-catchment’ siblings and will effectively be considered as ‘catchment 
siblings’ for the purpose of first admission.  This protected priority would not apply for 
subsequent siblings.  Therefore, it would apply for up to a maximum of 6 years up to 
2026/27 academic year of admission. 

 
The above criteria (2-5) may be overridden and priority given to an applicant 
who can establish any of the following: 
 

 pupils with special educational needs that can only be met at a specific school 
(e.g. where the school has specialist provision)**; 

 children of travellers, pupils with exceptional medical, mobility, or social grounds 
that can only be met at a specific school**. 

 
**Applications in these categories must be supported by a statement in writing from a 
doctor, social worker or other relevant professional.  This is necessary because you 
will be asking the Authority to assess your child as having a stronger case than other 
children.  Each case will be considered on its merits by Nottingham City Council. 

 
Waiting lists will be maintained until the last day of the summer half term for 
reception year to year 5 (i.e. May 2023). Waiting lists will not be maintained for year 
6. 

  
For admission purposes the Local Authority considers a sibling connection to relate 
to any of the following: 

 

 a brother or sister who share the same parents; 

 a half brother or sister, where two children share one common parent; 

 a step brother or sister, where two children are related by a parent’s marriage 
or civil   
 partnership; 

 adopted or fostered children or children living in the same household under 
the terms of a child arrangements or special guardianship order. 

 
Where applications are received in respect of twins, triplets or children of other 
multiple births, the authority will endeavour to offer places in the same school, 
admitting above the planned admission number where necessary.  If this is not 
possible, the parent/carer will be asked which child(ren) should take up the place(s). 
The parent/carer will still have a right of appeal against a refusal of a place. 

 

Page 75



 

Any parent/carer whose child is refused a school place for which they have applied 
has the right of appeal to an independent appeal panel***.  (Full details will be 
provided at the time of refusal). 

 
***(Except, the parent/carer of a child who has been permanently excluded from two 
schools and where at least one of those exclusions took place after 1 September 
1997. This applies to a twice excluded pupil for a period of two years beginning with 
the date the last exclusion took place). 
 
Attendance at a particular nursery does not guarantee admission to the main 
school for primary education.  All applications for admission to the main 
school must be made to the Local Authority and will be considered against the 
oversubscription criteria listed in 1-5 above. 

Page 76



Executive Board 
17 August 2021 

 

Subject: Surrender of an Existing Lease and Grant of a New Lease 
for Land at Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, 
Nottingham 
 

Corporate 
Director(s)/Director(s): 

Wayne Bexton, Interim Corporate Director of Growth and 
City Development 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor David Mellen, Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Regeneration and Communications 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 

Pippa Hall, Acting Head of Corporate Portfolio and 
Investment 
pippa.hall@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

None 

Subject to call-in:  Yes       No 
 

Key Decision: Yes        No 
Criteria for Key Decision: 
(a)  Expenditure  Income  Savings of £1,000,000 or more taking account 

of the overall impact of the decision 
and/or 
(b) Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in 

the City 
 Yes      No 

 

Type of expenditure:  Revenue   Capital 
 

Total value of the decision: See Exempt Appendix 
 

Wards affected: Bulwell 
 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 2 August 2021 
 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme:   
Nottingham People 
Living in Nottingham 
Growing Nottingham 
Respect for Nottingham 
Serving Nottingham Better 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6

mailto:pippa.hall@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
The existing lease is a ground lease with 59 years unexpired. The tenant 
approached the Council to negotiate a longer-term lease. Negotiations were 
undertaken to reach agreement on new lease terms and revised rent. 

Exempt information: 
An appendix to the report is exempt from publication under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 because it contains information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of particular persons (including the authority holding 
the information) and, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information because the report includes financial information in 
respect of the terms of the lease that, if disclosed, could prejudice the Council’s 
negotiating position. 
 

Recommendation(s):  

1 To accept the terms agreed for a new lease of 1.71 acres at Dabell Avenue, 
Blenheim Industrial Estate, Nottingham, and to surrender the existing lease. 

 

 
1 Reasons for recommendations  
 
1.1 The new lease is for a substantially longer period, so rental income will be for a 

longer term certain. 
 
1.2 The rent payable will increase, so this will generate additional income for the 

Property Trading Account. 
 
2 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 The existing lease is a ground lease with 59 years unexpired. The tenant approached the 

Council to negotiate a longer-term lease. Negotiations were undertaken to reach 
agreement on new lease terms and revised rent. 

 
3 Other options considered in making recommendations 
 
3.1 To not agree to the new lease: the Council would have no reason to reject the tenant’s 

request for a longer-term lease, as it will benefit the Council’s financial position. 
 
4 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for money/VAT) 
 
4.1 See Exempt Appendix. 
 
 Advice provided by Sohaib Chaudhry, Senior Commercial Business Partner, on 27 

July 2021. 
 
5 Legal and Procurement colleague comments (including risk management issues, 

and legal, Crime and Disorder Act and procurement implications) 

Page 78



 
5.1 From the information provided in the report and following discussion with the author 

of the report, it can be noted that the proposed transaction does not appear to reveal 
any substantive legal issues of concern. The transaction will be subject to normal 
property legal due diligence and the drafting, negotiation and completion of formal 
legal documentation between the parties and their respective legal advisors. 

 
 Advice provided by Mick Suggett, Solicitor (Team Leader – Conveyancing), on 26 

July 2021. 
 
6 Strategic Assets & Property colleague comments (for decisions relating to all 

property assets and associated infrastructure) 
 
6.1 Letting the property on the terms contained in the Exempt Appendix is supported by 

Strategic Assets and Property. The lease re-gear has been negotiated and agreement 
reached. The transaction will provide a substantial increase in annual rent to the Property 
Trading Account. 

 
 The terms have been negotiated and as such represent Best Consideration under the 

Local Government Act 1972. The lease renewal ensures the Council continues to receive 
a secure income. 

 
 Advice provided by Beverley Gouveia, Development and Disposals Manager, on 27 July 

2021. 
 
7 Social value considerations 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8 Regard to the NHS Constitution 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
9.1 An EIA is not required because this decision does not include proposals for a new or 

changing policy, service or function. 
 
10 List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 

published documents or confidential or exempt information) 
 
10.1 None. 

 
11 Published documents referred to in this report 
 
11.1 None. 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Site Location of Land 1.71 acres at Dabell Avenue/Widdowson Road, Blenheim Industrial Estate, 

Bulwell, Nottingham 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Board 
17 August 2021 

 

Subject: Grant of a Lease Renewal and New Letting for 3, 5, 5a 
and 7 Castle Road, Nottingham 
 

Corporate 
Director(s)/Director(s): 

Wayne Bexton, Interim Corporate Director of Growth and 
City Development 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor David Mellen, Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Regeneration and Communications 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 

Pippa Hall, Acting Head of Corporate Portfolio and 
Investment 
pippa.hall@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

None 

Subject to call-in:  Yes       No 
 

Key Decision: Yes        No 
Criteria for Key Decision: 
(a)  Expenditure  Income  Savings of £1,000,000 or more taking account 

of the overall impact of the decision 
and/or 
(b) Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in 

the City 
 Yes      No 

 

Type of expenditure:  Revenue   Capital 
 

Total value of the decision: See Exempt Appendix 
 

Wards affected: Castle 
 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 2 August 2021 
 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme:   
Nottingham People 
Living in Nottingham 
Growing Nottingham 
Respect for Nottingham 
Serving Nottingham Better 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 7

mailto:pippa.hall@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
The tenant approached the Council to agree terms for a new lease as the existing 
lease for 5, 5a and 7 Castle Road was due to expire. The tenant also wishes to take 
a lease on 3 Castle Road for use in connection with their restaurant business and 
can improve the appearance of the property, which will enhance the area and be of 
benefit to their business. Negotiations were delayed due to the pandemic but 
acceptable terms have now been reached. 
 

Exempt information: 
An appendix to the report is exempt from publication under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 because it contains information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of particular persons (including the authority holding 
the information) and, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information because the report includes financial information in 
respect of the terms of the lease that, if disclosed, could prejudice the Council’s 
negotiating position. 
 

Recommendation(s):  

1 To approve a lease renewal and new letting for 3, 5, 5a and 7 Castle Road, 
Nottingham, on the terms as set out in the Exempt Appendix. 

 

 
1 Reasons for recommendations  
 
1.1 The tenant has a lease which is protected under the security provisions of the 1954 

Landlord and Tenant Act that allows them to negotiate terms for a new lease, 
provided that the landlord has no grounds to object. In this case, the Council as 
Landlord has no such grounds to object. 
 

1.2 3 Castle Road is void and in a poor state of repair, so the letting as part of the new 
lease will generate revenue income and improve the appearance of the property, 
which is opposite the Castle grounds. 

 
2 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 The tenant approached the Council to agree terms for a new lease as the existing lease 

for 5, 5a and 7 Castle Road was due to expire. The tenant wishes to take a new lease on 
3 Castle Road for use in connection with their restaurant business and can improve the 
appearance of the property, which will enhance the area and be of benefit to their 
business. As the tenant occupies property on either side of 3 Castle Road, they can be 
classed as a special purchaser and would be expected to agree a rent at market rent or 
higher. Therefore, the property was not put on the open market to let. Negotiations were 
delayed due to the pandemic, but acceptable terms have now been reached. 

 
3 Other options considered in making recommendations 
 

Page 84



3.1 To not renew the lease: the Council has no grounds for opposing terms for a new lease 
and the tenant has the right to renew their lease and can apply to Court for terms to be 
determined if terms cannot be agreed with the landlord. 

 
4 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for money/VAT) 
 
4.1 See Exempt Appendix. 
 
 Advice provided by Sohaib Chaudry and Susan Tytherleigh, Finance Business 

Partners, on 26 July 2021. 
 
5 Legal and Procurement colleague comments (including risk management issues, 

and legal, Crime and Disorder Act and procurement implications) 
 
5.1 From the information provided in the report, the proposed lease renewal does not 

appear to raise any significant legal issues of concern. The new letting will be subject 
to normal property legal due diligence and the drafting, agreement and completion of 
a renewal lease between the parties on terms agreed with the Council. The 
proposed transaction is therefore supported. 

 
 Advice provided by Mick Suggett, Solicitor (Team Leader – Conveyancing), on 26 

July 2021. 
 

6 Strategic Assets & Property colleague comments (for decisions relating to all 
property assets and associated infrastructure) 

 
6.1 Letting the property on the terms contained in the Exempt Appendix is supported by 

Strategic Assets and Property. The tenant has a right to renew the lease and the Council 
has no grounds to oppose a renewal. 

 
6.2 The terms have been negotiated and as such represent Best Consideration under the 

Local Government Act 1972. The lease renewal ensures the Council continues to receive 
a secure income. 
 
Advice provided by Beverley Gouveia, Development and Disposals Manager, on 26 July 
2021. 

 
7 Social value considerations 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8 Regard to the NHS Constitution 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
9.1 An EIA is not required because this decision does not include proposals for a new or 

changing policy, service or function. 
 

Page 85



10 List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 
published documents or confidential or exempt information) 

 
10.1 None. 

 
11 Published documents referred to in this report 
 
11.1 None. 

Page 86



CASTLE ROAD

PLACE HOUNDS GATE

CASTLE GATE
2

7

3
5

1 Club

Gate House

56

67

70

5a
75

60

71

74

77

76 69
Hous

e

100

PH

PC 53 to 59

66 to 72LB

SM

SD

Statues

38.3m

I
Scale @ A4 =

0 4.5 92.25
Meters

1:500

© Crown copyright and database right 2016. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019317
Siobhan Stewart  09/06/2021

Property Support
Development & Growth

Loxley House
Station Street

Nottingham NG2 3NG
Tel : 0115 8763000

3,5 and 7 Castle Road
Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Board 
17 August 2021 

 

Subject: Grant of a Lease Renewal for 15/16 Finepoint, Walter 
Nash Road, Kidderminster 
 

Corporate 
Director(s)/Director(s): 

Wayne Bexton, Interim Corporate Director of Growth and 
City Development 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor David Mellen, Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Regeneration and Communications 
 

Report author and 
contact details: 

Pippa Hall, Acting Head of Corporate Portfolio and 
Investment 
pippa.hall@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

None 

Subject to call-in:  Yes       No 
 

Key Decision: Yes        No 
Criteria for Key Decision: 
(a)  Expenditure  Income  Savings of £1,000,000 or more taking account 

of the overall impact of the decision 
and/or 
(b) Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in 

the City 
 Yes      No 

 

Type of expenditure:  Revenue   Capital 
 

Total value of the decision: See Exempt Appendix 
 

Wards affected: Citywide 
 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 2 August 2021 
 

Relevant Council Plan Key Theme:   
Nottingham People 
Living in Nottingham 
Growing Nottingham 
Respect for Nottingham 
Serving Nottingham Better 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8

mailto:pippa.hall@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users): 
The industrial unit of 22,577 square feet, which forms part of a small industrial 
estate, was acquired by the Council in 2017. The tenant has been in occupation 
since 2010, with their lease ending in June 2021. The tenant has the right to a new 
lease and the Council, as landlord, has no grounds to refuse to grant a new lease. 
The Council appointed an external agent to negotiate terms for a new lease and 
terms have been agreed. 
 

Exempt information: 
An appendix to the report is exempt from publication under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 because it contains information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of particular persons (including the authority holding 
the information) and, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
The public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information because the report includes financial information in 
respect of the terms of the lease that, if disclosed, could prejudice the Council’s 
negotiating position. 
 

Recommendation(s):  

1. To re-let 15/16 Finepoint, Walter Nash Road, Kidderminster to the existing tenant 
on the terms as set out in the Exempt Appendix. 
      

2. To approve the payment of the associated fees. 
 

 
1 Reasons for recommendations  
 
1.1 The occupational lease for the property has expired and a lease renewal has been 

negotiated and terms agreed. 
 

2 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 The industrial unit of 22,577 square feet, which forms part of a small industrial estate, was 

acquired by the Council in 2017. The tenant has been in occupation since 2010, with their 
lease ending in June 2021. The tenant has the right to a new lease and the Council, as 
landlord, has no grounds to refuse to grant a new lease. The Council appointed an 
external agent to negotiate terms for a new lease and terms have been agreed. 

 
3 Other options considered in making recommendations 
 
3.1 Not to approve the terms: this option has been rejected as the tenant has a right to renew 

the lease under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954. 
 
4 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for money/VAT) 
 
4.1 See Exempt Appendix. 

 
Advice provided by Susan Tytherleigh, Finance Business Partner, on 26 July 2021. 

 

Page 90



5 Legal and Procurement colleague comments (including risk management issues, 
and legal, Crime and Disorder Act and procurement implications) 

 
5.1 From the information provided in the report and from review of the terms agreed 

between the parties for the renewal letting, the proposed transaction does not raise 
any legal issues of concern and is supported. The proposed lease will be subject to 
normal property legal due diligence and the drafting, negotiation, agreement and 
completion of formal legal documentation between the parties.  

 
 Advice provided by Mick Suggett, Solicitor (Team Leader – Conveyancing), on 26 

July 2021. 
 

6 Strategic Assets & Property colleague comments (for decisions relating to all 
property assets and associated infrastructure) 

 
6.1 Letting the property on the terms contained in the Exempt Appendix is supported by 

Strategic Assets and Property. The tenant has a right to renew the lease and the Council 
has no grounds to oppose a renewal. 

 
 The terms have been negotiated by an external specialist and as such represent Best 

Consideration under the Local Government Act 1972. The lease renewal ensures the 
Council continues to receive a secure income.  

 
        Advice provided by Beverley Gouveia, Development and Disposals Manager, on 26 July 

2021. 
 

7 Social value considerations 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8 Regard to the NHS Constitution 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
9.1 An EIA is not required because this decision does not include proposals for a new or 

changing policy, service or function. 
 
10 List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 

published documents or confidential or exempt information) 
 
10.1 None. 

 
11 Published documents referred to in this report 
 
11.1 None. 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 95

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 99

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23
	Enc. 1 for Draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23
	Enc. 2 for Draft Strategic Council Plan 2021-23

	5 Variation to Admission Arrangements for Nottingham City Community Schools for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 School Years
	6 Surrender of an Existing Lease and Grant of a New Lease for Land at Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, Nottingham
	Plan Surrender and Enc. 3 for Grant of a New Lease 1.71 Acres Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, Nottingham

	7 Grant of a Lease Renewal and New Letting for 3, 5, 5a and 7 Castle Road, Nottingham
	Plan Lease renewal atEnc. 2 for  3,5,5a 7 Castle Road Nottingham

	8 Grant of a Lease Renewal for 15/16 Finepoint, Walter Nash Road, Kidderminster
	10 Surrender of an Existing Lease and Grant of a New Lease for Land at Dabell Avenue, Blenheim Industrial Estate, Nottingham - Exempt Appendices
	Heads of TermsEnc. 2 for Surrender and Grant of a New Lease 1.71 Acres Dabell Avenue, Blenheim I
	Exempt financial comment Surrender and GrantEnc. 4 for of a New Lease 1.71 Acres Dabell Avenue,

	11 Grant of a Lease Renewal and New Letting for 3, 5, 5a and 7 Castle Road, Nottingham - Exempt Appendices
	Heads of Terms for new lease at 3,5,7 Castle Road, Nottingham
	Exempt Financial Comment Lease renewal at 3,5,Enc. 3 for 5a 7 Castle Road Nottingham

	12 Grant of a Lease Renewal for 15/16 Finepoint, Walter Nash Road, Kidderminster - Exempt Appendices
	Heads of Term 15-16 Finepoint
	Exempt Financial Comment Enc. 1 for Lease Renewal 15-16 Finepoint, Walter Nash Road, Kidderminst


